ANNUAL REPORT

2025 £ 5




CONTENTS
B 8%

02 Corporate Information
NEER
04 Glossary
el
08 Financial Summary
B HE
09 Chairman’s Statement
TE®RE
11 Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE R

24 Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management

i%&mn El EEA;I-\E@

30 Directors’ Report
BEEeWmE
52 Corporate Governance Report

ﬁé% B /III #&i

71

78

79

81

82

84

Independent Auditor’s Report
B R BN R &

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

FAaEmkEMEmRER

Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position

RAEMBIRRR

Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity
A ESEDE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
vT\ fﬁi/mi%

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

AP BIMARME



02

CORPORATE INFORMATION

~EEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. Ko Lai Hung
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Cheung Mei Lan

Non-executive Director
Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat
Ms. Tse Ka Wing
Mr. Ho Chi Shing

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Tse Ka Wing (Chairperson)
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat
Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Ho Chi Shing (Chairperson)
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat
Dr. Ko Lai Hung

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (Chairperson)

Mr. Ho Chi Shing

Dr. Ko Lai Hung

Ms. Tse Ka Wing (appointed on 1 July 2025)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Ko Lai Hung
Mr. Cheng Chi Wai

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Cheng Chi Wai

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Cheng Chi Wai

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (HK) Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
35th Floor

One Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

Accel Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2025

EEg
BTES
BRI
(ZRARITEARR)
REWLL

FHITES
=IEGERE

BYFHTES
REEEE
GIEZE
RS

BEREEE
BEERL (L)
Bk
iR

e ES R
AL (L)
Bk
BRI
RERSE
REEEE(ZR)
s
BRIEEL

HEEALT (202557 A1 BEEE)

REAXR
BRI
W5
BREME
B S

DEWE
W

EEFERBIT

FEIRIT(ER)BRAH
SBIBIT(ER)BRAT
BITRIT (BB BRAA

B SR B ED

= eRd =R 2 ETANTT
AR Fl|as B FEIZ 25T
B

& §EE88

A E5 15

352



LEGAL ADVISERS AS TO HONG KONG LAW

KEITH LAM LAU & CHAN
5th-7th Floors

The Chinese Club Building
21-22 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit A, 19/F

TML Tower

No. 3 Hoi Shing Road
Tsuen Wan

New Territories, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
1283

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE
http://www.chittathk.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Email: accel@financialpr.hk

BREERERA
2UPRBREENTT
BB
TFEER21-225%
ERGAE
SIEZRT7iE

AR EE

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HRERBBTEEEME

HEF#R

]

=
B BE 355
TMLES
19(EAE

FEREFEROBFELTE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

EERMOBFERIE
BEBRAEZSLARAT

a8

BB 165
REDRIPT7HE

BRAD 18R

1283

ANGIE )

http://www.chittathk.com

REEBE

Email: accel@financialpr.hk

EREEEZERERAT 2025558

03



04

GLOSSARY

RAJRE

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the ~ RAAREFRA X EDSHFAIEI © THFA=ES

following terms shall have the meanings set out below.

2024 Policy Address”
(20245 SEB 3R E |

“2025 AGM”
[2025FRRAF AR |

“"AGD"
(SR EER |

“AGM"
[BRBFAE ]

“AGT"
[=ELAIR

“Articles of Association”

[ E=F24A0A ]

“Ascend”
[ Ascend ]

“Audit Committee”

[EZEREE]

“Board”

[EF= ]
“business day”
[&%AH ]

“BVI”
[REBREXES ]

“CEO”
[1TEAEE |

“CG Code”
[{bEERSFA]

“Chairman”

[£F]
“Chit Tat”

[f23E |

BB -

the 2024 Policy Address of the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Government
EABT R B 2024F EBERE

the AGM to be held on Thursday, 18 September 2025
720259 A 18 H (2 HAM) B1THIRRIBSF KE

Accel Development Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

SEMERRBRAR  ARANEEREZENB QR

the annual general meeting of the Company

AABRFBFAR

Accel Innovations Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

SRAFAERAR - ARARNEEEZENB ARG

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
RABVAEEEZIRZMA - ETBHERT

Ascend Group Holdings Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Ascend Group Holdings Limited * ZNA B E 2 &M B A A

the audit committee of the Board

E=xgEnE8e

the board of Directors

=g

any day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong) on which
licensed banks in Hong Kong are generally open for business

EAREFRBIT-RAPIZENEAE F(EHN - EHERBFBLRBRBRI)

the British Virgin Islands
RERUES

the chief executive officer of the Company

ARARITIRAREL

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

AR BIMERC1E 5 M E A PR
the chairman of the Board
EEEERE

Chit Tat Electrical Engineering Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

RERETIRERDA  ARANEE2ENBAR

Accel Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2025



“close associates”

i IN

“code provision(s)”
[ =F Bl

“Company”
VNS

“Company Secretary”
[RREWE ]

“connected person(s)”

[BEEAL]

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”
[ A% A% 2R

“Corresponding Year"

[ 4]

“Director(s)”

==
“Dr. Ko”

(=Bt

YEQM”
[

“Group” or “our” or “Accel”
or “us” or “we"

[ ARSIkl A ekl =t ]

“HK$" or “"HKD" or
"HK cents”

BT skl ]

“Hong Kong”
e

“INED(s)"
(B IFITES]

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRRIRTE T AR =

code provision(s) as set out in the CG Code
1R E ST RIESI Y H) 5T RIS

Accel Group Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1283)
SRSEEZERERAR  KNRAEHSTMA I ANER AR - BN = (AR5
R55% - 1283)

the company secretary of the Company

RRARREIWE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRRIRTE T AR =

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules, and in the context of the
Company, means Dr. Ko, Ms. Cheung and Lightspeed Limited, or any one of them

BB FmRAFE THRE - ARG S HESE L « sk =+ Klightspeed Limited -
SEFMEF—RAL

the year ended 31 March 2024
B ZE2024F3A31HILFE

the director(s) of the Company

RNAFESE

Dr. Ko Lai Hung, the Chairman, an executive Director, the CEO, one of the Controlling
Shareholders, the spouse of Ms. Cheung and the father of Mr. CK Ko

SREELT  TF - WITES  THRAR BERERRz— - Rt zREBREEEE
G- 0%

electrical and mechanical

HE

the Company and its subsidiaries

RRF REMERE

Hong Kong dollars or cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
EBEEEBABITIGE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
R A RAFMBEEBRFITTHE

the independent non-executive Director(s)

BIFITES
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“Lightspeed”
[Lightspeed |

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Rules”
[ Er#R Al

“Main Board”

[ R

“Memorandum of
Association”

[ HE A E A2 R4

“Model Code”

[#R2E<7 Al

“Mr. CK Ko"
[SEAERE]

“Ms. Cheung”
[R& |

“MVAC”
[ WA R R I 22 SR A T

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRZEE]

“Register of Members”

[RER A&

“Remuneration Committee”

[(FMEZE S

[FE5 R EE 5RA

“Share(s)”
[ & ]

Lightspeed Limited, a company incorporated in BVI and the holding company of the
Company

Lightspeed Limited * —HRREBELZHSEMK A AR - BARARAIERAR]

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board
PR EMR £

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended from
time to time

BRFEE LA R

the stock market operated by the Stock Exchange
B R B ER AR R T %

the memorandum of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
RRBPEHERT AT IZ AL

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
LR B ERCIFTED EMBEIT AN EZEZETESF R HHIELESTA

Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit, a non-executive Director and a son of Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung

BEESLLE  FRTESESBLERLLZR T

Ms. Cheung Mei Lan, an executive Director, one of the Controlling Shareholders, the
spouse of Dr. Ko and the mother of Mr. CK Ko
REMUL  AITESF  ERREZ—  SEI2RBRSEELENHER

mechanical ventilation and air-conditioning

MmNz RAFER

the nomination committee of the Board

ExeRw%EBe

the register of members of the Company

AABRERAM

the remuneration committee of the Board

EFxeyMEEe

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

FRRHFLEEBERZBE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong
BEREDIESNEEF L E D

share(s) of nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company

AR BIPARFAEEC.0VETT 2 B

Accel Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2025



“Shareholder(s)"”
[A% R

“Stock Exchange”

[ g 32 FfT |

“Year”

[AFE]

the holder(s) of Share(s)
& A A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBBMER AR AR

the year ended 31 March 2025
B ZE2025F3H31HILFE

BREEEZERERAF

2025F F 3R
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EHE

RESULTS E 4
For the year ended 31 March
BZEZ3A31MHILEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20254 20244 20234 20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt T FETT FA&TT T
Revenue A 556,417 553,537 538,492 547,315 508,904
Profit before taxation B A A 57,057 48,800 65,977 81,709 86,462
Income tax expense FTiSfiA > (10,037) (8,381) (10,078) (13,729) (13,159)
Profit for the year F R Al 47,020 40,419 55,899 67,980 73,303
Profit attributable to AR ARSI R FE
equity shareholders of (=Pl
the Company 46,253 40,792 56,477 68,181 73,303
FINANCIAL POSITIONS B HEAR R
As at 31 March
M3H31H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20254 20244 20234 20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T FA&TT FH&TT T
Current assets BN EE 509,812 427,420 459,451 430,033 436,502
Non-current assets IEREEE 78,533 98,754 92,550 13,879 30,105
Current liabilities mEAaE 135,559 99,229 146,312 71,735 112,476
Non-current liabilities IERBEE 1,654 5,250 8,277 1,065 1,410
Net assets BERE 451,132 421,695 397,412 371,112 352,721

Total equity attributable — ZN2 GE)#E A% &
to equity shareholders — {h1Ez54E%E

of the Company 451,456 422,835 398,179 371,302 352,721
Non-controlling interests ~ 3FHpEAE RS (324) (1,140) (767) (190) =
Total equity HEmEEE 451,132 421,695 397,412 371,112 352,721

Accel Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2025



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of the Company, | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Group for the Year.

As a leading electrical engineering company based in Hong Kong,
we continue to demonstrate resilience and adaptability in an
evolving global landscape. Despite challenges posed by geopolitical
tensions and a high-interest rate environment, we have sustained
steady growth, leveraging our expertise in electrical engineering and
project management to optimize cost efficiency and successfully
executed large-scale projects.

Throughout the year, we strengthened cost control, enhanced
quality management, and strategically expanded our portfolio. Our
business focus has evolved from predominantly residential electrical
installations to a broader scope including both residential and public
works. Our involvement in the rebuilding of hospitals’ electrical
engineering systems represent the Company’s milestones, which
helps mitigating risks associated with the slowdown in Hong Kong's
property market. These healthcare projects, alongside government
infrastructure developments and commercial building renovations,
reinforce long-term stability and sustainable growth of the Group.
Our project management capabilities remain highly regarded, with a
strong pipeline of unfinished contracts totalling more than HKD800
million — an affirmation of the trust placed in our ability to execute
complex projects with precision.

Beyond our core electrical engineering business, we continue to
drive diversified growth. In alignment with Hong Kong'’s economic
strategy, we expanded our business into immigration consulting
services, supporting the city’s “Attract and Retain talents” initiative
to facilitate talent integration and economic development.
Meanwhile, we have made significant advancements in technology
and innovation, as demonstrated by our collaboration with Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in establishing the “Metaverse+ Joint
Laboratory” which supports the research and development of smart
city solutions, including cutting-edge applications in smart health
technology by way of a donation of HKD10 million. One of the
first collaborated projects is the development of a smart wristband
equipped with fall detection alerts and medication reminders
designed to monitor health conditions for construction workers
and the elderly. This device is poised to enhance public health and
workplace safety. The laboratory aims to achieve initial results within
six months, and extending its application to both academic research
and commercial deployment.

EEHRE

HEBR
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FENE A MBS AR - XA e IR R E 24
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In addition to smart city initiatives, we have expanded our focus
on green building technology through our subsidiary. We are
committed to the development of solar clean power, energy-saving
solutions, and carbon reduction projects, aligning with China’s
dual-carbon goals and the promotion of sustainable development.
Furthermore, our Group have been actively developing loT-based
smart building solutions that integrate energy conservation, air
purification, and environmental protection technologies. The Group
has established a green building and |oT joint laboratory with a local
university for green building and IoT research, aiming to advance
studies in new green building materials and smart city applications.
These initiatives position us as a leader in sustainable infrastructure,
reinforcing our commitment to technological advancement and
environmental responsibility.

Moving forward, we anticipate ongoing global macroeconomic
challenges, including geopolitical uncertainties and our past
tightening financial conditions. In response, we will integrate the
prudent strategies approach with an agile and forward-thinking,
refining our operational model and expanding our expertise to
secure new contracts and drive sustainable growth.

By remaining committed to excellence, technological advancement,
and economic development, we are well-positioned to navigate

future challenges while delivering outstanding service to our clients
and making meaningful contributions to society.

Ko Lai Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025

Accel Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS PROFILE

The Group is an established E&M engineering services provider.
The Group’s major business involves the supply, installation and
maintenance of MVAC systems, drainage systems, water supply,
swimming pool and fountain systems, electrical and control systems
as well as smart electrical control systems in buildings.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Amidst global inflation and evolving industry dynamics, the Group
has navigated significant challenges while maintaining steady
growth. By adopting a pragmatic approach to risk management,
optimizing project oversight, and reinforcing cost control measures,
we have strengthened our foundation for long-term sustainability.

During the Year, the Group has strategically transitioned from
a predominant focus on residential projects to a more balanced
portfolio that integrates both residential developments and
public works. The strategic shift has enabled us to diversify our
expertise and improve market positioning. Notably, the Group has
secured several key public sector contracts, including an extensive
E&M project for a hospital and an E&M installation project for a
government complex, which reinforced our capability in large-scale
infrastructure projects.

Beyond our core engineering services, the Group continues to
expand its presence in technological innovation. At the Hong Kong
International InnoEX 2025, we showcased certain groundbreaking
Al-driven solutions developed in collaboration with Hong Kong
Polytechnic University including the Al Smart Health Management
System and the Swimming Safety Intelligent Drowning Monitoring
System, both of which leverage the advanced Al and sensor
technology to enhance public safety and health management. The
successful integration of Al applications into our business not only
aligns our commitment to digital transformation but also paves the
way for future expansion into smart building systems and intelligent
infrastructure solutions.

In response to the Greater Bay Area Youth Employment Scheme
and the enhanced Top Talent Pass Scheme outlined in the 2024
Policy Address, the Group has expanded its immigration consulting
services with a dedicated focus on assisting mainland students
to pursue their studies in Hong Kong. As the government policy
continues to support Hong Kong'’s position as an education hub
within the Greater Bay Area, the Group assists students to navigate
the application process, secure placements in top universities, and
access career development opportunities upon graduation. By
providing guidance on academic pathways, scholarship options, and
post-study employment prospects, the Group plays a pivotal role in
supporting cross-border education and talent development.
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Moving forward, the Group remains committed to balancing
projects in both residential and public sector while integrating
technological advancements. By leveraging sustainable practices, Al-
driven solutions and the Government supported talent programs, we
strive to strengthen our leading position in the industry and create
lasting values for stakeholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue increased by approximately HK$2,880,000 or
0.5% from approximately HK$553,537,000 for the Corresponding
Year to approximately HK$556,417,000 for the Year. The Group
has successfully maintained its revenue while transitioning from
its residential project focus to a more balanced approach which
incorporates an increasing number of public works throughout the
Year. This transition reflects the Group’s strategic adaptation to
the macroenvironment and a timely and steady execution, with the
ability to ensure a financial stability during the change.

Cost of services

The Group's cost of services mainly represented (i) cost of materials
including MVAC systems such as air conditioners, ventilation fans
and accessories such as pipes and fittings; and (i) subcontracting
fees for completing on-site works. The cost of services increased
by approximately HK$2,189,000 or 0.5% from approximately
HK$465,703,000 for the Corresponding Year to approximately
HK$467,892,000 for the Year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group'’s gross profit increased by approximately HK$691,000 or
0.8% from approximately HK$87,834,000 for the Corresponding
Year to approximately HK$88,525,000 for the Year.

The Group's gross profit margin maintained at 15.9% for the Year
as compared with the Corresponding Year as projects with higher
gross profit margin were completed in the Year, and a lower gross
profit margin was expected for public works.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs, travelling and
transportation expenses, rental and building management fees,
professional fees, office expenses, depreciation expenses and other
expenses. Administrative expenses decreased by approximately
HK$5,793,000 or 14.2% from approximately HK$40,670,000 for
the Corresponding Year to approximately HK$34,877,000 for the
Year. The decrease in administrative expenses of the Group was
mainly due to the drop in the donation and depreciation of rights of
use assets during the Year.

Accel Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2025
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Other comprehensive expenses

The Group has strategically invested as a cornerstone investor
during the Year, focusing on long-term collaboration and synergies
rather than short-term market volatility. Given this approach, the
Directors have classified the investment as Fair Value Through Other
Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI), ensuring that fluctuations in fair
value are recognized in other comprehensive income rather than
affecting profit or loss.

Income Tax Expense

The income tax expense increased by approximately HK$ 1,656,000
or 19.8% to approximately HK$10,037,000 for the Year from
approximately HK$8,381,000 for the Corresponding Year. The
increase in income tax expense aligned with the increase in overall
profitability of the Group for the Year.

Profit and Total Comprehensive Income
Attributable to Owners of the Company

The Group'’s profit and total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately HK$42,113,000 for the
Year and HK$40,792,000 for the Corresponding Year. The slight
increase in profit and total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company was mainly due to the net effect of the
increase in the profit for the Year aforementioned and the changes
in the fair value of the Group's investment as cornerstone investor.

Trade and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments increased
by approximately HK$36,285,000 or 42.3% from approximately
HK$85,879,000 as at 31 March 2024 to approximately
HK$122,164,000 as at 31 March 2025.

Trade receivables (net of allowance for credit losses) increased
by approximately HK$36,954,000 or 52.3% from approximately
HK$70,592,000 as at 31 March 2024 to approximately
HK$107,546,000 as at 31 March 2025. The increase was primarily
attributable to the advancement of construction progress in a Kai
Tak residential development project and the MVAC installation
project at a hospital, and the completion of certain iconic projects
during the Year. A substantial portion of the work was certified by
the architects prior to the year-end date and subsequently settled
thereafter.

Prepayments for purchase of materials and subcontracting fees
increased by approximately HK$1,838,000 or 25.6% from
approximately HK$7,170,000 as at 31 March 2024 to approximately
HK$9,008,000 as at 31 March 2025. The significant increase in
balance is due to the prepayments paid to our subcontractors for
securing their services. The prepayments for securing the contracting
services will be utilised as service costs as projects progress in the
coming financial year.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment decreased by approximately
HK$6,081,000 or 8.9% to approximately HK$62,146,000 as at 31
March 2025 from approximately HK$68,227,000 as at 31 March
2024. The decrease of the property, plant and equipment is mainly
due to a disposal of motor vehicle by the Group during the Year.

Contract assets and liabilities

Contract assets represent the Group’s rights to considerations from
customers for the provision of E&M engineering services, which
arise when: (i) the Group completes the relevant services under
such contracts but not yet certified by architects, surveyors or other
representatives appointed by the customers; and (ii) the customers
withhold certain certified amounts payable to the Group as retention
money (i.e. retention receivables) to secure the due performance of
the contracts. Contract liabilities represent the Group's obligation to
provide E&M engineering services to customers for which the Group
has received advance payments from the customers.

Contract assets increased by approximately HK$20,262,000 or
8.4% from approximately HK$242,049,000 as at 31 March 2024 to
approximately HK$262,311,000 as at 31 March 2025. The increase
in contract assets was mainly due to increase in the amount of newly
accepted contract works of which are still at the commencement
stage but has not yet been certified by architects, surveyors or other
representatives appointed by the customers and the enhanced
progress in certain residential projects located in Kai Tak and Tin
Shui Wai at the end of the reporting period.

Contract liabilities increased by approximately HK$8,015,000 or
118.0% from approximately HK$6,791,000 as at 31 March 2024 to
approximately HK$14,806,000 as at 31 March 2025. The increase in
contract liabilities was mainly due to the completion of certain iconic
projects which have been certified by the architects during the Year.

Pledged bank balances and cash and cash
equivalents

The Group's pledged bank balances were to secure the grant
of facilities to the Group by certain banks. The pledged bank
balances and cash and cash equivalents increased by approximately
HK$13,464,000 or 13.6% from approximately HK$98,933,000 as at
31 March 2024 to approximately HK$112,397,000 as at 31 March
2025. The increase was mainly due to the enhanced receivable
control measures imposed by the Group in order to minimise the
financial risks by improving the bank balances and the settlement of
certain significant projects during the Year.
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The pledged bank balances and cash and cash equivalents were
denominated in HKD and were mainly generated from the Group's
daily operations. With a strong financial position, the Group is able
to provide sufficient financial resources for the Group’s current
commitments, working capital requirements and further expansion
of the Group’s business, as and when required.

Trade and retention payables and accruals

Trade and retention payables and accruals increased by
approximately HK$24,160,000 or 41.2% from approximately
HK$58,683,000 as at 31 March 2024 to approximately
HK$82,843,000 as at 31 March 2025.

Trade payables increased by approximately HK$20,985,000 or
71.4% from approximately HK$29,403,000 as at 31 March 2024 to
approximately HK$50,388,000 as at 31 March 2025 which mainly
represents the amount due to our major suppliers and contractors.
The increase in the balance is due to the enhanced project progress
close to the end of reporting period and therefore more materials
and sub-contracting services were used at the end of the reporting
period.

Retention payables increased by approximately HK$4,628,000 or
30.4% from approximately HK$15,200,000 as at 31 March 2024 to
approximately HK$19,828,000 as at 31 March 2025. The increase
in the retention payable was mainly due to the enhanced project
progress by the Group’s sub-contractors for the installation of the
MVAC systems in the projects located in Kai Tak and Tin Shui Wai.

Bank loans

Bank loans increased by approximately HK$3,041,000 or 12.9%
from approximately HK$23,594,000 as at 31 March 2024 to
approximately HK$26,635,000 as at 31 March 2025. The increase in
the bank loans was mainly due to a short term loan obtained during
the Year to enhance our liquidity. There is no seasonality on the
Group's bank loans and the balances were denominated in HKD.
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According to the relevant bank facilities letters, details of the bank
loans of the Group in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates as at 31 March 2025 are as follows:

The carrying amounts of the above
bank loans that contain a repayable on
demand clause (shown under current
liabilities) but repayable:

B TAIR)BARRE

BRI IRTTRVE K - 8220253 H31H -
AEERTERIRBEERBHFBLOT

2025
20255

2024
20244
HK$'000
FiBT

HK$"000
FET

Bl S B RERERGRZ
RITEFEAERRBAE

Within one year —%FR 6,468 1,934
Within a period of more than one year —F LA EETBIBERE IR
but not exceeding two years 1,504 1,413
Within a period of more than two years M LA _EETBEAFER
but not exceeding five years 4,733 6,100
More than five years FFE E 13,930 14,147
26,635 23,594

The bank loans as at 31 March 2025 were lent by banks under the
bank facilities granted to the Group and such bank facilities were
secured by the Group’s two carpark spaces, an office premise and
a corporate guarantee given by the Company in favour of the bank
(2024 two carpark spaces, an office premise, and a corporate
guarantee).

Notwithstanding the provisions stated in the aforesaid bank
facilities, the bank may at any time without prior notice, modify,
cancel or suspend the banking facilities, at the sole discretion of
such bank; including, without limitation, cancelling any unutilised
facilities and declaring any outstanding amount to be immediately
due and payable. Accordingly, the above bank loans were classified as
current liabilities as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Included in the bank loans as at 31 March 2025 were bank loans
of HK$21,635,000 (2024: HK$23,594,000), which bore variable
interest rate at 2.85% per annum below Hong Kong Prime Rate
quoted by the relevant bank (2024: variable interest rate from 2.75%
to 2.85% per annum below Hong Kong Prime Rate quoted by the
relevant bank). The remaining bank loans of HK$5,000,000 (2024:
Nil) bore variable interest rate at 1.75% per annum above one-
month Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group enters 2025 with a clear strategic vision — to deepen
its role in shaping Hong Kong’s urban transformation through
engineering excellence, technological innovation, and talent
development.

With the government’s continued investment in the Northern
Metropolis and surrounding bay area as outlined in the 2024 Policy
Address, Hong Kong is accelerating its development into a vibrant,
livable, and innovation-led region. The Policy includes the creation of
new housing, cross-boundary infrastructure, and smart community
facilities that require sophisticated E&M engineering solutions.

The Group is well-positioned to contribute to this transformation.
Leveraging its proven capabilities in MVAC, electrical systems,
plumbing and intelligent building technologies, the Group will
actively pursue opportunities in public works and infrastructure
projects across the Northern Metropolis and New Territories
North including hospitals, government complexes and smart city
developments which demand high-performance, sustainable, and
digitally integrated E&M systems.

In parallel, the Group will continue to invest in Al-driven engineering
applications, building on the success of its Al Smart Health
Management System and Swimming Safety Intelligent Drowning
Monitoring System. These innovations, developed in collaboration
with Hong Kong Polytechnic University and showcased at InnoEX
2025, reflect the Group’s commitment to integrating advanced
technology into its service offerings. Future applications may include
smart campus systems, energy-efficient building controls, and
predictive maintenance platforms — aligning with the government’s
push for green infrastructure and digital transformation.
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On the talent front, the Group will expand its education and
immigration consulting services, with a dedicated focus on
supporting mainland Chinese students pursuing studies in Hong
Kong. This initiative directly supports the government’s efforts
to attract young talent to the Northern Metropolis and foster a
knowledge-based economy. By guiding students through academic
pathways, university applications, and post-study career planning,
the Group is helping to build a future-ready workforce that can
contribute to Hong Kong's long-term development.

With a forward-looking strategy anchored in engineering expertise,
innovation, and regional integration, the Group is confident in its
ability to seize new opportunities, support Hong Kong to play an
important role in the Greater Bay Area development, and deliver
sustainable value to clients, partners, the broader community and all
relevant stakeholders.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year, the Group's working capital was financed by
internal resources and loan facilities from banks. The current ratio of
the Group, which is calculated based on the current assets divided
by current liabilities, was approximately 3.76 times as at 31 March
2025 (31 March 2024: approximately 4.31 times). The Group
generally financed its daily operations by cash flows generated
internally and external borrowings. The Group strikes to maintain
a healthy financial position to support the business growth by
balancing the source of financing.

FINANCIAL POLICIES

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of the
trade and retention payables, bank loans and lease liabilities. The
Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.
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GEARING RATIO

The Group's gearing ratio, which is calculated based on the total
interest-bearing liabilities divided by the total equity (defined as
the sum of bank loans and lease liabilities as at the respective
year end divided by total equity as at the respective year end),
was approximately 6.8% as at 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024:
approximately 8.5%).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Year, the Group incurred cash outflows of approximately
HK$52,000 in leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and
equipment, and motor vehicles and yacht (2024: HK$13,022,000 in
leasehold improvements and furniture, fixtures and equipment).

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (31 March 2024: HK$353,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, performance bonds of HK$96,486,000 (2024:
HK$94,428,000) were given by banks in favour of the Group’s
customers as security for the due performance and observance of
the Group’s obligations under the contracts entered into between
the Group and its customers.

The performance bonds as at 31 March 2025 were issued under the
bank facilities granted by banks to the Group and such bank facilities
were secured by the Group’s two carpark spaces, office premises,
and a corporate guarantee given by the Company in favour of the
bank (2024: two carpark spaces, office premises, pledged bank
balances and a corporate guarantee).

Save as disclosed herein, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: Nil).
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no material subsequent event occurred since 31 March
2025 and up to the date of this annual report which requires
disclosure.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, an office premise, certain motor vehicles,
refundable rental deposits, two carpark spaces and pledged bank
balances of the Group were pledged for the lease liabilities and the
bank facilities (31 March 2024: secured by an office premise, certain
motor vehicles, refundable rental deposits, two carpark spaces and
pledged bank balances).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the Year, save as disclosed herein, the Group did not make
any other significant investments, material acquisitions or disposals
of its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR SIGNIFICANT
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, save as disclosed herein, the Group did not
have any other plans for significant investments or capital assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in HKD. The Group is not significantly
exposed to foreign currency risk arising from monetary assets
and liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the respective group entities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy as the foreign currency risk is considered to be insignificant.
However, the management will continue to closely monitor the
Group's foreign exchange risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure when necessary.
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CREDIT RISK EXPOSURE

The Group’s major customers include reputable property developers
and main contractors. During the Year, the Group has closely
monitored and strengthened its collection measures, and has
adopted prudent credit policies to mitigate credit risk exposure.
The Group was not exposed to any significant credit risk during
the Year. The Group’s management reviews the recoverability of
trade receivables and closely monitors the financial position of the
customers from time to time with a view of keeping the Group’s
credit risk exposure at a reasonably low level.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed 238 employees (31
March 2024: 197 employees) with total staff costs (including direct
labour costs) of approximately HK$101,439,000 incurred for the
Year (Corresponding Year: approximately HK$94,084,000). In
order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable smooth
operation within the Group, the remuneration policy and package
of the Group’s employees are periodically reviewed. The salary
and benefit levels of the employees of the Group are competitive
(with reference to market conditions and individual qualifications
and experience). The Group provides adequate job training to the
employees to equip them with practical knowledge and skills. Apart
from mandatory provident fund and job training programs, salaries
increment, discretionary bonuses and share options may be awarded
to employees according to the assessment of individual performance
and market situation.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 18 September
2019 for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible
participants for their contributions or potential contributions to the
Group. Such scheme became effective on 18 October 2019. As
at 31 March 2025, there was no share option granted under the
scheme.

In addition, the Group has adopted a share award scheme in the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 15 September
2023 (“Share Award Scheme”), for the purpose of providing
incentives to attract, retain and motivate eligible participants, for
their continual contribution to the growth and development of the
Group.

The total number of shares which may be issued in respect of
all options and awards to be granted under the Share Award
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”) was 80,000,000 shares (representing 10% of the
Company'’s total number of issued shares as at the date of adoption
of the Share Award Scheme).

FERR

AEEEZEFERNBMERRA R EEARZ
B o RAEE  AKEE YR R UK
Bt - WO RAZENEERRBAREERE -
AEENAFREY BRABEIFAEANEERR - K
SEEEETRERE SR WA Y E R
B UENERTFPNFHRN - § EHAKE
HMEERBRARFEREHEKRFE -

BERHMBER

MR2025F3 HA31H - AEEEMH238%EE
(202443 F31H : 197 % EE) r MAEE
METIKRARB(BREEESLSIRNA)OA
101,439,000/ 7T (& : #994,084,000/8 7T ) °
ARSI RGEBESE TNEAEEANIIEGE
& NEEWEBFIBR R F B e E R -
AEERENFEFKEARSEH(KREN
MEEABEENLR) - NEBAREERER R
TSI BREZRERNM LI - Brig
M AES R TIESFIETSISN - BB IR RIRE
ARBERFHEMTISERESME - BISEL X
RENRHE -

RABIER201949 A 18 H &4 — B B A =T
g2 LA ERSHEHASBER 2 BB E
FE R4 T1EEN S8 E o ZATEIE R 20194E10
B18H &R - ¥2025%3 A318 » 5215 Nt E
B BB IRE -

AN - REBEE R 202349 8 15 HERITH AR A
RREAF RS EEMND 2B T 8 ([ B Bt
2] SERESEERARS - BB MBES
BIRSEE  UFEAAEBEMNIER RERIEN
=HEf -

FARLAD 2B T8 R AR R E T EIE 5T
R R FT A B AR e e 2R B i AT BE BT M R D 48
([T EIZHEBREE |) 4580,000,0000% (#HE A A
R EIRERAALD 2B 51 2] B B D 17D 2k aY
10%) °

EREEEZERERAT 2025558

21



22

As at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025, the Scheme Mandate Limit
and the maximum number of shares available for grant under
the Share Award Scheme was 69,173,000 shares (representing
approximately 8.53% of the total number of the issued shares as at
31 March 2025).

During the Year, 1,025,910 awarded shares were vested and
699,600 unvested awarded shares were lapsed under the Share
Award Scheme due to the grantees ceased to be the employee
of the Group in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Scheme.

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of shares available for issue
under the Share Award Scheme was 77,191,790 shares (representing
approximately 9.52% of the total number of issued shares as at
31 March 2025), being the total number of (i) 69,173,000 shares
available for grant under the Share Award Scheme; and (ii) 8,018,790
awarded shares which were granted (but not yet vested) under the
Share Award Scheme.

No awarded shares were granted and cancelled during the Year.

CORPORATE RECOGNITION

In the area of corporate social responsibility, the Group is
being recognised as Hong Kong Green Organisation from the
Environmental Campaign Committee. The Group has also received
the EcoPartner Award and EcoPioneer Award of BOCHK Corporate
Low-Carbon Environmental Leadership Awards from Federation of
Hong Kong Industries in recognition of the Group’s performance
in the field of energy conservation and environmental protection.
The Group will continue to improve its service quality, adhere to the
required safety and environmental standards, and take the Group'’s
corporate social responsibilities commitment to the next level in
order to deliver excellent E&M services to the Group’s customers.

COMPETING INTEREST

During the Year, none of the Directors or the Controlling
Shareholders or their close associates was interested in any business
which competed or might compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group nor had or might have with the Group
any conflicts of interest.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK1.4 cents per Share (2024: HK1.3 cents per Share) for
the Year (the “Final Dividend”) to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Members on Monday, 29 September
2025, which amount to approximately HK$11,352,000 (2024:
HK$10,541,000). Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution
at the 2025 AGM, the Final Dividend is expected to be paid to the
Shareholders on or around Monday, 20 October 2025.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
In relation to 2025 AGM

The Register of Members will be closed from Monday, 15 September
2025 to Thursday, 18 September 2025, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfers of Shares shall be registered. The record
date for attending and voting at the 2025 AGM is Thursday, 18
September 2025. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the
2025 AGM, all transfers of Shares, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged for registration
with the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the
Company, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 12 September 2025.

In relation to the proposed Final Dividend

Conditional on the passing of the resolution approving the
declaration of the Final Dividend by the Shareholders at the 2025
AGM, the Register of Members will be closed from Thursday,
25 September 2025 to Monday, 29 September 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfers of Shares shall be
registered. The record date for determining the entitlement to the
final dividend is Monday, 29 September 2025. In order to qualify
for the Final Dividend, all transfers of Shares, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged for
registration with the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office of the Company, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 24 September 2025.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEBRE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. Ko Lai Hung (5% #), aged 55, is the founder of our Group,
the Chairman, an executive Director, our CEO and one of our
Controlling Shareholders. He joined our Group on 18 February
2000 and was appointed as a Director on 20 September 2018. He
is also a member of our Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee. He is responsible for the overall strategic planning,
management and administration of our Group'’s business operations.
Dr. Ko is currently a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Dr. Ko is the spouse of Ms. Cheung, an executive Director, and
the father of Mr. CK Ko, the non-executive Director. Dr. Ko is also
a director and shareholder of Lightspeed Limited, a Controlling
Shareholder.

Dr. Ko holds a number of important social positions, including
member of Fujian Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and deputy chairman of Hong Kong
Federation of Fujian Associations. Dr. Ko obtained an honorary
degree of doctor of business administration from the Westcliff
University in March 2021 in recognising his managerial and
professional experience in the E&M engineering industry, as well
as his community contribution. Dr. Ko has been appointed as
vice president of the GBA Carbon Neutrality Association and the
deputy director of Carbon Neutrality Committee of China Energy
Conversation Association for his contribution to the China’s
determination, goals, initiatives and effectiveness in combating
climate change.

Dr. Ko has accumulated over 30 years of experience in the E&M
engineering industry in Hong Kong. Prior to founding the Group,
he was the proprietor of Chit Tat Engineering Co, which was mainly
involved in the provision of electrical engineering services in Hong
Kong, from 1995 to 2006. With his extensive industry experience,
Dr. Ko founded, together with other industry players, Hong Kong
Air Conditioning Construction Association Limited (& /& 2= F & 5%
7 & A R 2 ), a non-profit-making organisation with a mission
of strengthening the connection and communication among air
conditioning contractors in Hong Kong in June 2018. He has been
leading the association as the president and one of the directors
of the association since founding the association. Chit Tat is also a
member of this association.
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Ms. Cheung Mei Lan (3R 32 8), aged 55, is an executive Director
and one of our Controlling Shareholders. She joined our Group on
18 February 2000 and was appointed as a Director on 20 September
2018. She is responsible for the overall strategic planning,
management and administration of our Group’s business operations.
Ms. Cheung is currently a director of Ascend and Chit Tat. She is the
spouse of Dr. Ko, an executive Director and the mother of Mr. CK
Ko, the non-executive Director. Ms. Cheung is also a director and
shareholder of Lightspeed Limited, a Controlling Shareholder.

Since the incorporation of Chit Tat, Ms. Cheung has accumulated
more than 18 years of experience in the E&M engineering industry
in Hong Kong. She has been a director of Chit Tat since 2000.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit (S51#£), aged 31, was appointed as the
non-executive Director on 24 January 2019. He is a member of our
Audit Committee. Mr. CK Ko is responsible for advising on business
development and planning of our Group. Mr. CK Ko is a son of Dr.
Ko and Ms. Cheung, both being executive Directors.

Mr. CK Ko graduated from the University of Rochester in the United
States with a master’s degree in finance and The University of
Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in economics and finance in
December 2016 and November 2015, respectively. He became a
member of the Chartered Alternative Investment Analyst Association
in November 2017. Mr. CK Ko is the Director of Capital Markets at
Everest Ventures Group (EVG), a Hong Kong-based Web 3.0-focused
venture studio, since May 2022. Prior to joining EVG, Mr. CK Ko was
a SFC licensed Responsible Officer of Type 1 (dealing in securities)
and representative of Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
in Hong Kong at Bright Minds Capital Limited.

REWLZL 555  ARTTESRIERRKE
Z— ° 200062 A18AMAARER - R
2018F 920 R T AES - RAEAEEE
BEEMNEBREERE  EERTH - KX
TIREAscend R BEENEE - BARITEES
BL 2 EEEBRIFENTESSEG/EECTE K
Z N AR IE B Lightspeed Limited 2 = 5 & %
= o

BIEETMAIEE SRR ETAEBTEREILIZTE
TERB18FLER - 1R H20005F e —HEERRE
BEx-

FHITES

BEEELE 315 0 N2019F1 A24BEZ T A
IEMITES - BRABZEZESKE - 9BHLE
BERAEBNEBERELAIRHER - 2F&
BEEAEBLIRERZIZRT  MEHAHRIT
=

SELELEDRIN2016F12 AR ERERER
I ABWESS BB EM - MR20154F
MAZENEERBUEBKEENEHBE LS
iz o HR2017F N AKX BFFISBEREST
Mneags ;&AL EB2022F5 A RERE
Everest Ventures Group (EVG)H)E ARTTIHARES -
HAE—HEFRWeb 3.00BFBIRETIEE - £
MAEVGH] * SEELEERBEERFTRAAE
FERE—H(BEHERZ ) XREFHNBESH
MEEABRENEREEETR)XREED
BRE B EREMAER o

EREEEZERERAT 2025558

25



26

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (Ff & #£) (“Mr. CT Chan"), aged 75, was
appointed as an INED on 18 September 2019. He is the chairperson
of our Nomination Committee and a member of our Audit
Committee and our Remuneration Committee. Mr. CT Chan is
responsible for providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. CT Chan has over 33 years of work experience in the Inland
Revenue Department. His last position was assistant commissioner
before he retired in 2005. Mr. CT Chan graduated from the Central
Queensland University in Australia with a master’s degree in financial
management in October 1995 through distance learning. He has
been an associate of The Chartered Governance Institute of London,
the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute since March 1974 and August 1994, respectively. Mr. CT
Chan has also been a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since March 1986; a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since November 1983; and a fellow
of CPA Australia since June 1990.

Mr. CT Chan has been the sole director of C T Tax Consultants
Limited, a tax consultancy, since August 2006. Further, Mr. CT
Chan has been an independent non-executive director of each of
Medicskin Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8307), Hyfusin Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8512), Chong Fai Jewellery Group
Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 8537), Ye Xing Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1941) and Wasion Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 3393) since December 2014, June 2018, September
2018, February 2020 and June 2020, respectively.
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Ms. Tse Ka Wing (#%%8), aged 41, was appointed as an INED on
18 September 2019. She is the chairperson of our Audit Committee.
Ms. Tse has been appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee since 1 July 2025. Ms. Tse is responsible for providing
independent advice to our Board.

Ms. Tse obtained an associate of business administration degree in
accountancy and a bachelor of business administration degree in
accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in November
2004 and November 2006, respectively. She also obtained a master
of corporate governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in September 2018. She has been a member of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and an associate of
the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries since November
2018. In addition, Ms. Tse has been a member and a certified public
accountant (practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since January 2011 and March 2014, respectively.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Tse has accumulated over 19 years
of financial and accounting experience. She worked as an auditor in
Andrew Tse & Company from September 2006 to February 2008.
Thereafter, she served BDO Limited for five years with her last
position as assistant manager (assurance) from February 2008 to
November 2013. In November 2013, Ms. Tse joined Union Honor
International Enterprise Limited as an assistant accounting manager,
and then worked in HKUE Limited from November 2014 to March
2016 with her last position as financial controller. Subsequently,
Ms. Tse served as the financial controller and company secretary at
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited (Stock Code: 8023) from March
2016 to December 2017. Ms. Tse worked in Skyway United Limited
from March 2018 to January 2021 and her last position was chief
financial officer and company secretary. She worked in YONXI
International Finance Holdings Limited from February 2021 to
January 2023 and her last position was chief financial officer and
company secretary. She is currently a practising director of PY CPA
Company Limited since January 2023. During the Year and until July
2025, Ms. Tse was the executive director of Wing Lee Development
Construction Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 9639), a company listed
on Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Ho Chi Shing (i & &), aged 73, was appointed as an INED
on 18 September 2019. He is the chairperson of our Remuneration
Committee and a member of our Nomination Committee. Mr. Ho is
responsible for providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Ho graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a bachelor
of science degree in engineering, a postgraduate diploma in software
engineering, a master of business administration and a postgraduate
certificate in laws in November 1976, January 1989, November 1991
and June 2011, respectively. He also obtained a graduate diploma
in English and Hong Kong law (common professional examination)
and a bachelor of laws from The Manchester Metropolitan University
in July 2008 and July 2009, respectively. Mr. Ho was admitted as a
member of the Institution of Electrical Engineers in November 1981.
He has been: (i) a Chartered Engineer of the Council of Engineering
Institutions since February 1982; (ii) a member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers since July 1985; and (iii) a member of the
Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers since April 1982
and a fellow of it since March 2004. He practised as a Barrister-at-
law from October 2012 to December 2014.

Mr. Ho has over 30 years of experience in the construction industry
in Hong Kong. He worked in China Light & Power Company Limited
from September 1976 to October 1979 with his last position as
a second engineer of the sub-station design department. He had
served the Hong Kong Housing Authority for about 32 years from
October 1979 to September 2011 with his last position held as the
chief building services engineer. He had been an honorary advisor
for Hong Kong Applied Science and Technology Research Institute
Company Limited from October 2011 to October 2016. Mr. Ho
became a member of the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency’s
governing council in 2005, and was appointed as deputy chairman
in November 2011 and chairman in November 2019. Mr. Ho has
been working at BEAM Society Limited as a general manager since
March 2014. He had been appointed as a part-time lecturer of
Tsinghua Research Institute Shenzhen from 2011 to 2016, and he
also served in Shenzhen Audencia Business School in 2018 as part-
time lecturer. He is currently an Adjunct Associate Professor of The
University of Hong Kong, a post he took up since 2019 after serving
as an honorary principal lecturer since mid-2010’s in the Department
of Electrical and Electronic Engineering of The University of Hong
Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheng Chi Wai (#87&12), aged 39, is our chief financial officer
and Company Secretary. He joined our Group in August 2019 and is
responsible for overseeing our Group’s financial operations and the
overall corporate governance of our Group.

Mr. Cheng holds a Master of Business Administration degree
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Accountancy from the Edinburgh Napier University and
the Certificate in ESG Investing from CFA Institute. He is a fellow
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and an Associate of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants.

Mr. Cheng has around 15 years of experience in finance and
auditing, corporate governance and compliance matters for
companies listed in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked at Rocky Shek & Co. from 2011 to 2013 as an auditor. From
2013 to 2015, he worked at BDO Limited as senior associate and
worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from 2015 to 2019 with his
last position as an audit manager.

Mr. Lam Ka Tak (#£2X18), aged 56 is a project director of our Group.
He joined our Group in December 2015 as a project manager and
was subsequently promoted to senior project manager and project
director in February 2017 and January 2019, respectively. Mr. Lam
is primarily responsible for the overall management of our Group’s
E&M engineering projects.

Mr. Lam obtained a higher diploma in mechanical engineering from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1994. He has
over 20 years of experience in the construction industry. Before
joining our Group, Mr. Lam worked in Kervin Engineering Co., Ltd.
from October 1993 to November 2012 with his last position held as
project manager. He also served as the project manager of Pyrofoe
Air-Conditioning & Electrical Co., Ltd. from December 2012 to
October 2015.
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DIRECTORS” REPORT
EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
78 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK1.4 cents per Share for the Year to the Shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members on Monday, 29
September 2025, amounting to approximately HK$11,352,000
(2024: HK1.3 cents per Share, amounting to approximately
HK$10,541,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group during the Year and
the discussion on the Group’s future business development are
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, and the descriptions
of key financial performance indicators are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”. The financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group are set out in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements. There was no significant
event affecting the Group that occurred since the end of the Year
and up to the date of this annual report which had materially
affected the Group’s operations and financial performance.
In addition, discussions on the Group’s relationships with key
stakeholders, environmental policies and performance, compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group and the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group are as follows:

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group’s success also depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and
subcontractors and suppliers.

Employees

Employees are regarded as our important and valuable assets. The
objectives of our human resources management is to reward and
recognise performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a performance appraisal system with
appropriate incentives, and to promote career development and
progression by providing appropriate trainings and opportunities
within the Group for career advancement.
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We regularly review our human resources and remuneration policies
in the light of legislation, industry practice, market conditions and
the performance of individuals and the Group in order to enhance
the job satisfaction of our staff.

Customers

Our principal customers are property developers and main
contractors in Hong Kong. We provide professional and quality
services in supply, installation and maintenance of MVAC systems,
whilst maintaining long term profitability, business and asset growth.

Subcontractors and suppliers

We firmly believe that our subcontractors and suppliers are equally
important in cost control and increasing their bargaining power on
procurement of materials, which further secures our competitiveness
when bidding for tenders. We proactively communicate with our
subcontractors and suppliers to ensure that they are committed to
delivering high-quality and sustainable products and services. Unless
the customers require us to engage subcontractors and suppliers
nominated by them, we shall select subcontractors and suppliers
from our approved lists of subcontractors and suppliers. In addition,
during the continuance of the contracts with the subcontractors,
we will provide them with our internal guidelines on safety and
environmental issues and require their compliance. We effectively
implement the subcontractor assessment process to monitor the
performance of our subcontractors by conducting regular site visits,
evaluation on the performance of the contract and other measures.

Environmental policies and performance

We believe that our business’ success also depends on our ability to
meet the customers’ requirements in respect of safety, quality and
environmental aspects. To meet the aforesaid requirements, we have
established safety, quality and environmental management systems.
Through the systematic and effective control of its operations,
compliance with safety, quality and environmental requirements can
be further assured. We are fully engaged in the carbon reduction
programme in order to promote green production. We are a
founding member of Greater Bay Area Carbon Neutrality Association
and have been awarded the Corporate Environmental Leadership
Awards from the Federation of Hong Kong Industries in recognition
of our contribution in carbon reduction.

The detailed environmental policies and performance evaluation of
us during the Year will be disclosed in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company, which will be published on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website separately in
due course.
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Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

We mainly undertake E&M engineering services in Hong Kong, the
Directors confirmed that during the Year, the Group had obtained
all the registrations and certifications required for its business
and operations and had complied with the applicable laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, in all material respects.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties involved in the business operations of the
Group may affect the Group’s financial position and prospects. The
Group has been focusing on the control of risks and uncertainties
with the aim of understanding and addressing the concerns of
stakeholders. Key risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are
listed below:

- the revenue is mainly derived from E&M engineering projects
which are non-recurrent in nature and any failure of our
Group to secure new projects would affect our operations and
financial results;

- error or inaccurate estimation of project execution timeframe
or project costs may result in cost overruns and may adversely
affect our revenue and profitability;

- reliance on the major customers;

- the revenue and profit margin are subject to fluctuations
driven by various factors such as variation orders and the
recoverability of contract assets, and the past revenue and
profit margin may not be indicative of our future financial
performance; and

- may not be able to bill and receive the full amount of trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets, if
progress payment or retention money is not paid in full and on
time, the liquidity position may be adversely affected.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out on page 8 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the
provisions of the applicable laws and regulations of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to HK$273,582,000 (taking into account the
share premium and retained profits available for distribution
amounting to HK$195,606,000 and HK$82,116,000 respectively,
excluding the investment revaluation reserve amounting to
HK$4,140,000).

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 81 of this annual report and note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

There is no arrangement pursuant to which a Shareholder has
waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Ko Lai Hung
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Cheung Mei Lan

Non-executive Director
Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat
Ms. Tse Ka Wing
Mr. Ho Chi Shing

Pursuant to the Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association, Mr. Chan Cheong Tat and Mr. Ho Chi Shing shall retire
at the 2025 AGM and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for
re-election.

Information regarding the Directors’ and chief executive's
emoluments are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

For details of the Directors’ profiles, please see the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and has duly reviewed the confirmation of
independence of each of the INEDs. The Company, based on
such confirmations, considers that all of the INEDs continue to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The non-executive Directors (including the INEDs) have each entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company with a term of 3
years, commencing from 18 September 2022. None of the Directors
who are proposed for election or re-election at the 2025 AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be (a) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); (b) recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO; or (c) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long position in the Shares
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Name of Directors Capacity Nature of interests Shares held shareholding
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(Note 2)

(PtEE2)

Dr. Ko (Note 1) Interest in controlled corporation Corporate interest 597,000,000 73.62%
= E T (fEET) g2 N d EE

Ms. Cheung (Note 1) Interest of spouse Family interest 597,000,000 73.62%
SRA T+ (fFET) iR EN3 S
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Notes:

1. The 597,000,000 Shares are held by Lightspeed, which is beneficially
owned as to 70% by Dr. Ko and 30% by Ms. Cheung. Under the SFO,
Dr. Ko is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Lightspeed
and Ms. Cheung, spouse of Dr. Ko, is deemed to be interested in the
Shares deemed to be held by Dr. Ko.

2. The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided
by the number of the issued Shares as at 31 March 2025 (i.e.
810,827,000 Shares).

Long position in the ordinary shares of an
associated corporation

GEE

1. 597 000,000 f% % 17 75 F Lightspeed 5 & © %

NAHSBEIREZRETDREREFT70% X

30% ° BIFEFEHF KBS KD - SELEEAR

Lightspeed B 2 I R B EE KR XL (5

B2 REE)ERARSHLER ARG ZBRG
PG ©

2. B IEERSER BB RUREZE2025
F3A318 2B HITiH 2 E (R1810,827,000%
Btn) o
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Name of
associated Number of Percentage of
Name of Directors corporation Capacity Nature of interests shares held shareholding
e BB EEER 56 Bt PR 8 e REBT AL
Dr. Ko (Note) Lightspeed Beneficial owner and interest  Personal interest and family 200 100%
of spouse interest
=EL(FE) Lightspeed BaA AN BER EUNG e
Ms. Cheung (Note) Lightspeed Beneficial owner and interest  Personal interest and family 200 100%
of spouse interest

wa L (M) Lightspeed EnlA AR EES

Note: Lightspeed is the holding company of the Company and is an
associated corporation within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
Lightspeed is beneficially owned as to 70% by Dr. Ko and 30% by Ms.
Cheung, spouse of Dr. Ko, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be (a) notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/
she was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
(b) recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (c) notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as our Directors are aware, the
following entity(ies) which/person(s) (other than a Director or the
chief executive of the Company) who had, or were taken or deemed
to have interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in the Shares

Nature of
interests

EEME

Name of Shareholder (€] F-1414Y

BRREME 514

Beneficial owner

BEonEA A

Lightspeed (Note 1)
Lightspeed (Fff7£1)

Notes:

1. Lightspeed is beneficially owned as to 70% by Dr. Ko and 30% by Ms.
Cheung, spouse of Dr. Ko, respectively.

2. The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided
by the number of the issued Shares as at 31 March 2025 (i.e.
810,827,000 Shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company had
not been notified by any other entity(ies) which/person(s) (other than
a Director or the chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were
required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme"”)
of the Company was approved for adoption pursuant to a written
resolution of the then sole shareholder passed on 18 September
2019 for the purpose of providing an incentive or reward to the
eligible participants for their contribution or potential contribution to
the Group.

1. Participants of the Share Option Scheme and
the Basis of Determining the Eligibility of the
Participants

The Board is entitled at any time and from time to time grant
options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to any full-time
or part-time employees, consultants or potential employees,
consultants, executives or officers (including executive
directors, non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents, advisers,
business partner or service providers who, in the sole opinion
of the Board has contributed or will contribute to the
Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.

2. Grant of Options

The Directors were authorised to grant options to subscribe for
Shares and to allot, issue and deal with the Shares pursuant
to the exercise of options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and to take all such steps as may be necessary and/
or desirable to implement and give effect to the Share Option
Scheme.

3. Maximum Number of Shares Available for
Subscription and Scheme Limit

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and under
any other share schemes of the Company must not, in
aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
immediately following completion of the Share Offer and
the Capitalisation Issue (as defined in the Prospectus), and
the Share Option Scheme limit is 80,000,000 Shares, which
represented 9.87% of total number of issued Shares as at the
date of this annual report. No service provider sublimit was set
under the Share Option Scheme.
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Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall remain valid and effective until
the tenth anniversary of the 18 October 2019, being the date
of Listing (i.e. 18 October 2029).

Grantee’s Maximum Holding

Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting, the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon the exercise of all options granted to an eligible
participant under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company (including both
exercised and outstanding options) shall not exceed 1% of
total number of the Shares in issue within any 12-month
period. Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) is required to be approved by the INEDs.

Grant to Substantial Shareholders and INEDs

Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the
Listing Rules, the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted and proposed to be granted
to a substantial shareholder or any INEDs or their respective
associates under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) shall not exceed 0.1% of
the Shares in issue.

Exercise of Options

The Board may, at its discretion, determine the minimum
vesting period for which the option has to be held before it
can be exercised, and the period during which an option may
be exercised. However, no options shall be exercised ten years
after they have been granted.
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8. Exercise Price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of a particular
option shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets on the date of the grant of the option, which must be
a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of the grant
of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

9. Acceptance of Offer

An offer shall be made to any eligible participants of the
Share Option Scheme by an offer document in such form as
the Board may from time to time determine, requiring such
participant to undertake to hold the option on the terms on
which it is to be granted and to be bound by the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme. To accept any options granted by
the Company, the grantee is required to pay a consideration
of HK$1 on or before the last day of acceptance set out in the
relevant offer document.

Since the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up
to the date of this annual report, no share options were granted,
exercised, vested, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme.

As at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025, the total number of share
options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme limit and
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme were 80,000,000.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) at the AGM held on 15 September 2023 (the
“Adoption Date”) for the purpose of providing the selected
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company, encouraging the selected participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its Shares for
the benefit of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole; and
providing the Company with a flexible means of either retaining,
incentivizing, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or
providing benefits to the selected participants.

1.

Eligible Participants of the Share Award
Scheme

Only employee participants shall be eligible for the Share
Award Scheme (the “Eligible Participant”). Employee
participants refer to any Director (excluding any independent
non-executive directors) and employee of the Group (including
persons who are granted share awards under this Share Award
Scheme as inducement to enter into employment contacts
with these companies).

Grant of Award

The Remuneration Committee and the Board may, at its sole
discretion make the relevant grant of awarded shares (the
“Award Shares”) to the selected participants under the
Share Award Scheme subject to such terms and conditions
as the Remuneration Committee and the Board may deem
appropriate at its discretion.

Maximum Number of Shares to be Granted

The total number of the Award Shares which may be issued
in respect of all options and awards to be granted under the
Share Award Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
(the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) was 80,000,000 Shares
(representing 10% of the Company’s total number of issued
Shares as at the Adoption Date). The Scheme Mandate Limit
and the maximum number of shares available for grant under
the Share Award Scheme are 69,173,000, representing
approximately 8.53% of the total number of issued Shares as
at the date of this annual report. No service provider sublimit
was set under the Share Award Scheme.
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4. Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant

No award may be granted to any one Eligible Participant
such that the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all options and awards granted to such person
(excluding any options and awards lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Award Scheme) in any 12-month
period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the
issued Shares from time to time, unless such grant is separately
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting.

5. Vesting of Awarded Shares

The vesting period of an Award for new Shares held by the
Eligible Participant must be at least 12 months. A shorter
vesting period may be granted to an Eligible Participant at the
Board’s sole and absolute discretion in certain circumstances
prescribed in the Share Award Scheme.

6. Basis of Determining the Purchase Price of
Awarded Shares

The purchase price of the awarded shares (if any) shall be such
price which shall be determined by the Board from time to
time based on considerations such as the prevailing closing
price of the Shares (being the average closing market price for
the five business days preceding the date of grant on which
the Shares are traded on the Stock Exchange), the purpose of
the Award and the characteristics and profile of the Selected
Participant.

7. Life of the Share Award Scheme

The Share Award Scheme commences on the Adoption
Date and remains valid and effective unless and until being
terminated upon the expiry of the period of ten (10) years
from such date (i.e. 15 September 2033).

As at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025, the maximum number of
Shares that available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit and
available for issue under the Share Award Scheme were 69,173,000
Shares.

Since the Adoption Date and up to 31 March 2025, a total of
10,827,000 Awarded Shares have been granted under the Share
Award Scheme (representing approximately 1.34% and 1.34% of
the number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2025
and the date of this report, respectively), of which 2,108,610 have
vested, 699,600 have lapsed and 8,018,790 remain unvested.
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As at 31 March 2025, the total number of shares available for issue 7202543 A31 8 - RIE D 2B 513 AT 1 2%
under the Share Award Scheme was 77,191,790 Shares (representing 172 B 19 42 88 577,191,790 f% ({h A AN 3 245 H
approximately 9.52% of the total number of issued Shares as at the ~ HIE Z7T D4 E04)9.52% ) » B1()69,173,000
date of this report), being the total number of (i) 69,173,000 Shares  BX 1R 15 B% (9 2E @) =+ 21 7] (3% B Z B& 1D+ K2 (i)
available for grant under the Share Award Scheme; and (i) 8,018,790  8,018,790% R &A% {5 22 E) =3I 2 1% Hh (18 1K R 57
Awarded Shares which were granted (but not yet vested) under the &) 2 S2EI% (D 2 4BEX -

Share Award Scheme.

No Awarded Shares were granted and cancelled during the Year. NSRRI R S AR AR () o

Movements of the Awarded Shares under the Share Award Scheme — ZARFE (D B2 SR MD HEIS AN T ¢
for the Year are as follows:

Unvested
Unvested Granted Vested Cancelled Lapsed as at
Name of Purchase as at during during during during 31 March
participant Date of Grant Price 1 April 2024 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2025
20245 R20255
4718 3A31H
BHERE BitiA 8 FAEE AFERY AFERE AFERH  AFEAX ]
(Note 4)
(P=E4)
Ms. Wong Hoi Yan 15/09/2023 N/A 450,000 - (50,000) - - 400,000
(Notes 1, 2, 3)
Y AL T 15/09/2023 TEA
GEIRVAE)
Ms. Wong Hoi Ki 15/09/2023 N/A 198,000 - (22,000) - - 176,000
(Notes 1, 2, 3)
BSHLL 15/09/2023 TEA
(HE1 -2+ 3)
Ms. Ko Karlie 15/09/2023 N/A 270,000 - (30,000) - - 240,000
(Notes 1, 2, 3)
SRR 15/09/2023 TEA
(M=E1 -2+ 3)
Mr. Wong Hau Wai 15/09/2023 N/A 720,000 - (80,000) - - 640,000
(Notes 1, 2, 3)
HERLE 15/09/2023 TEA
(BisE1 -2+ 3)
Mr. Cheung Choi On 15/09/2023 N/A 181,800 - (20,200 - - 161,600
(Note 1, 2, 3)
RERTE 15/09/2023 TEA
(HE1 -2+ 3)
Employees — 15/09/2023 N/A 7,924,500 - (823,710) - (699,600) 6,401,190
In aggregate (Notes 1, 2, 3)
EE-#% 15/09/2023 NEA
(FizE1 -2+ 3)
Total 9,744,300 - (1,025910) - (699,600) 8,018,790
st
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Notes:

1. The vesting will take place on 31 March of each year beginning in
2024 and ending in 2033 and shall be vested in 10 equal tranches.
There is no performance target attached to the Awarded Shares.

2. The closing price of the shares immediately before the date on which
the share awards were granted (i.e. 14 September 2023) was HK$1.01
per share.

3. The estimate fair value of the Awarded Shares granted on 15

September 2023 was approximately HK$9,282,000. The estimated
fair value of the Awarded Shares granted was measured based on the
grant date price with the adjustment of ex-dividend discounted at the
appropriate risk-free interest rate during the requisite service period.

4. During the Year, 699,600 unvested Award Shares were lapsed (but
still remained) under the Share Award Scheme due to the Grantees
ceased to be the employees of the Group in accordance with the
terms of the Share Award Scheme.

The closing price of the shares immediately before 1,025,910
Awarded Shares were vested was HK$0.81 on 31 March 2025. The
weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the
date on which the Awarded Shares were vested was HK$0.82.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year or as at 31 March 2025 was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and none
of the Directors, or their spouses or children under the age of 18,
had any rights to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such right during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group during
the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing connected transactions

During the Year, the Group has conducted the following continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Employment agreements between the Group and
connected employees

Chit Tat continues to employ certain employees who are connected
persons of the Company following the Listing.

As disclosed in the announcement published by the Company
dated 31 March 2022 (the “March Announcement”), Chit Tat
terminated the employment of each of Mr. Cheung Choi On, Mr.
Wong Kai Chau, Ms. Ko Karlie, Mr. Wong Hau Wai, Ms. Wong Hoi
Yan and Ms. Wong Hoi Ki (the “Connected Employees”) with
effect from 31 March 2022 and entered into new employment
agreements (the “New Employment Agreements”) with each
of the Connected Employees. Pursuant to the New Employment
Agreements, each of the Connected Employees is employed
under new terms. Under the New Employment Agreements, the
Connected Employees will continue to take up employment at their
respective role in the Group, which they took up prior to the Listing,
for a term of three years from 1 April 2022.

As disclosed in the announcement published by the Company dated
1 November 2022 (the “November Announcement”), Accel
Green Building Limited has entered into the employment contract
(the “Employment Contract”) with Mr. Ko Chun Hei Rand (7= & ER),
the son of Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung and the brother of Mr. CK Ko
("Mr. CH Ko") in relation to his employment with the Group for a
term of 3 years commencing from 1 November 2022 to 31 October
2025.
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Mr. CH Ko and the Connected Employees are either siblings or
relatives of the three Directors, Dr. Ko, Ms. Cheung and Mr. CK Ko.
The details of their relationships with the Directors are set out as
follows:

SEREEELBEREA=RE=(AIREBL
SRZE R EETELE) L BERIERM - B
HEENEFBEERIILT

Name Connected relationship

=L BERR

Mr. Cheung Choi On Mr. Cheung Choi On is a brother of Ms. Cheung, a brother-in-law of Dr. Ko
and an uncle of Mr. CK Ko.

RIERTE REREERRZLIZER, %  SELTZAR BREERGEFLEZR
(=K

Mr. Wong Kai Chau Mr. Wong Kai Chau is a brother-in-law of Ms. Cheung and an uncle of
Mr. CK Ko.

=ERAESE BRBELEERRLLTZAR BREEFREEZRA -

Mr. Ko Chun Hei Rand Mr. Ko Chun Hei Rand is a son of Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung and the brother
of Mr. CK Ko.

SEEREE SEREEASBLIRRLLT R FURSEELEEZRLF -

Ms. Ko Karlie Ms. Ko Karlie is a niece of Dr. Ko and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.

SRRt eEBXT AL EL INBEREEGRTEZE K -

Mr. Wong Hau Wai Mr. Wong Hau Wai is a nephew of Ms. Cheung and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.

mRERE BREEERRILIZER IMEREEEREZRLF -

Ms. Wong Hoi Yan Ms. Wong Hoi Yan is a niece of Ms. Cheung and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.

=LA L BYRLTRRELTZEL ML RSB EEE 2R,k o

Ms. Wong Hoi Ki Ms. Wong Hoi Ki is a niece of Ms. Cheung and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.

=AHL LT BEHLTRRE LT ZERL ML RSB EREE 2RIk o

Each of Mr. CH Ko and the Connected Employees is a connected
person of the Company. Therefore, the transactions contemplated
under the New Employment Agreements and the Employment
Contract constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As (i) Mr. CH Ko
and the Connected Employees are either siblings or relatives of the
three Directors, Ms. Cheung, Dr. Ko and Mr. CK Ko; and (ii) the
nature of the New Employment Agreements and the Employment
Contract are the same, such transactions shall be aggregated in
accordance with Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules.
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For details in relation to the New Employment Agreements
and the Employment Contract, please refer to the March 2022
Announcement and the November 2022 Announcement,
respectively.

As disclosed in the November 2022 Announcement, the annual
caps, being the total remuneration payable to the Connected
Employees and Mr. CH Ko, had been revised and will not exceed
HK$4,500,000, HK$5,000,000 and HK$5,500,000 for the years
ended 31 March 2023, 31 March 2024, and 31 March 2025,
respectively (the “Revised Annual Caps”). The Revised Annual
Caps were determined with reference to (i) the historical amounts
of the total remuneration paid to the Connected Employees; (ii)
the contractual amounts payable under the New Employment
Agreements and the Employment Contract; (iii) the expected
adjustments in the salaries of Mr. CH Ko and the Connected
Employees during the relevant contractual period; and (iv) the
expected amount of discretionary bonus and overtime pay that may
be payable to Mr. CH Ko and the Connected Employees during the
relevant contractual period.

All the INEDs have reviewed the above continuing connected
transactions and confirmed that such transactions were entered into:

0) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(i) according to the respective agreements governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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With reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
auditor has confirmed in their letter to the Board that nothing has
come to their attention which caused them to believe that such
continuing connected transactions:

0) have not been approved by the Board;

(i) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(i) the aggregate amount paid by the Group in respect of such
continuing connected transactions has exceeded the annual
cap for the year ended 31 March 2025 as disclosed in the
November Announcement.

Related party transactions

Details of the Group's related party transactions are disclosed in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save and except (i) the transactions specified in note 33(a)(1), (4)
and (5)(b); and (ii) the remuneration of the senior management
members of the Group forming part of the “Compensation of
key management personnel” described in note 33(b), all other
transactions stated in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Group.

The transaction described in note 33(a)(5)(a) to the consolidated
financial statements refers to the continuing connected transactions
regarding the New Employment Agreements and the Employment
Contract as disclosed above in this section. Save as aforesaid, all
other connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements are
fully exempted from reporting, annual review, announcement,
circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions conducted by the Group as
disclosed in this annual report.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements,
(i) there was no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year; and (ii) there
was no other contracts of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into by the Group or existed during the Year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates had any interests in a
business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes or
may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group or has any other conflict of interest with the Group which
would be required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules.

Non-competition undertaking

In order to avoid any possible future competition between the Group
and each of the Controlling Shareholders, each of the Controlling
Shareholders as a covenantor (the “Covenantor”) has executed a
deed of non-competition (the “Deed”) in favour of the Company
(for itself and as trustee for each of its subsidiaries), pursuant to
which, each of the Covenantors undertakes, inter alia, that it’/he/she
will not, and will use its/his/her best endeavours to procure, its/his/
her close associates (other than any member of the Group) not to,
whether directly or indirectly, whether for profit or not, participate
in or engage in any business which, directly or indirectly, competes
or may compete with the Group's business. For details, please refer
to the prospectus of the Company dated 27 September 2019.
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Each of the Covenantors has confirmed to the Company that he/she/
it has complied with the non-competition undertakings under the
Deed during the Year. The INEDs have reviewed on their compliance
with the Deed and confirmed that (i) they were not aware of any
non-compliance of the non-competition undertakings under the
Deed by each of the Covenantors; and (ii) such undertakings had
been duly enforced and complied with by each of the Covenantors
during the Year.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If
the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in or exercising of any
rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult their
professional advisers.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for its Directors and officers. The relevant
provisions in the Articles of Association were in force during the
Year and as at the date of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group was set
up by the Board upon the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emolument of the Directors are determined by the
Board based on recommendation of the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme and the Share
Award Scheme as incentives to eligible persons, details of which are
set out under the paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” and
“Share Award Scheme” above respectively.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the Group's retirement benefit schemes are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association or
applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company is
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules throughout the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted
to HK$1,420,000 (2024: HK$3,667,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the
Group's five largest customers accounted for 58.0% of the Group's
total revenue and the revenue from its largest customer accounted
for 12.8% of its total revenue.

In addition, the Group's purchases attributable to its five largest
suppliers accounted for 56.3% of the Group’s total purchases and
the purchases from its largest supplier accounted for 15.8% of its
total purchases.

During the Year, none of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best of the knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the total number of issued Shares) had any
interests in any of the Group's five largest customers or the Group'’s
five largest suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any Shares (including sale of treasury shares) during the
Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of corporate governance report are set out on pages 52 to
70 of this annual report.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years
ended 31 March 2023, 2024 and 2025 were audited by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, the independent auditor engaged by the Group,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment
at the 2025 AGM. There has been no change in the independent
auditor of the Company in the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Ko Lai Hung
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025

BB

AREBREZ20234F ~ 20244F K 202543 A 31
HIEFERGEMIEHRAEHEZTAEAEES
SIZE AR BAE RS 2 ETRITTRZ - 25
HER2025F IRFBAF RS RE - HEFEER
WA B - AR AMB 2SR BAE=F
W R EE) o

RREEE

TR TTHARRRATTEE
[k 3

EF7& 20256 A26H

EREEEZERERAT 2025558

51



52

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERWE

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its
Shareholders and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ values
through good corporate governance. The Directors recognise the
importance of incorporating elements of good corporate governance
in the management structures, internal control and risk management
procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted and, save for the deviation from code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as disclosed in this annual report,
has complied with all applicable code provisions as set out in the CG
Code during the Year.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

Dr. Ko Lai Hung is the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”)
and the CEO. He has been managing the Group's business and
supervising the overall operations of the Group since 2000. The
Board considers that vesting the roles of the Chairman and the CEO
in Dr. Ko is beneficial to the management and business development
of the Group and will provide a strong and consistent leadership
to the Group. The Board has a total of six Directors and three of
them are INEDs who are qualified professionals and/or experienced
individuals. As all major decisions are made in consultation with
all the Board members who meet on a regular basis to review the
operations of the Group, and shall be approved by majority approval
of the Board, with the three INEDs on the Board scrutinising
important decisions and offering independent perspectives, the
Board believes that there are adequate safeguards in place to
ensure sufficient balance of powers within the Board. The Board will
continue to review and consider splitting the roles of the Chairman
and the CEO at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking
into account the circumstances of the Group as a whole.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct governing the securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company made specific enquiry of all Directors and they confirmed
that they had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the Year and up to the date of this annual
report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
is in place for the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions
performed by the Board include but are not limited to formulating
the Group’s business and investment plans and strategies, deciding
all significant financial (including major capital expenditure) and
operational issues, developing, monitoring and reviewing the
Group’s corporate governance practices and all other functions
reserved to the Board under the Memorandum of Association
and Articles of Association. The Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference. The
responsibilities of these Board committees include monitoring the
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensuring that
appropriate internal control and risk management systems are in
place. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions to
the management of the Group if and when considered appropriate.
The management is mainly responsible for the execution of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board and
other duties assigned to it from time to time.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and
the management has an obligation to supply the Directors with
adequate information in a timely manner to enable the Directors
to perform their responsibilities. The Directors are entitled to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expense.

Composition

The Company is committed to holding the view that the Board
should include a balanced composition of executive Directors, non-
executive Director and INEDs so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the
following six Directors, of which the INEDs in aggregate represent
50% of the Board members:

Executive Directors
Dr. Ko Lai Hung (Chairman and CEQ)
Ms. Cheung Mei Lan

Non-executive Director
Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit

INEDs

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat
Ms. Tse Ka Wing

Mr. Ho Chi Shing
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The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report.

Dr. Ko, the Chairman, an executive Director and the CEO, is the
spouse of Ms. Cheung who is an executive Director. Dr. Ko and Ms.
Cheung are the parents of Mr. CK Ko, the non-executive Director.
Save as disclosed above, there was no financial, business, family or
other material relationship among the Directors during the Year.

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and financial
expertise, experience and independent judgement to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving on
various Board committees, all INEDs will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.

Throughout the Year, the Company had three INEDs, meeting the
requirements of the Listing Rules that the Board must include at
least three INEDs and the number of INEDs must represent at least
one-third of the Board members, and that at least one of the INEDs
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation and not aware of any
adverse event, the Company considers that all the INEDs are
independent and have met the independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Independence

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and inputs are available to the Board when it discharges its duties.
Such mechanisms include:

1. Annual evaluation of training sessions undertaken by each of
the Director during the financial year;

2. Obtaining advice from external advisers when and where
required;

3. A Director (including an independent non-executive Director)
who has a material interest in a contract, arrangement or
other proposal shall abstain from voting or be counted in the
guorum on any Board resolution approving the same; and

4. The chairman of the Board meets with the independent non-

executive Directors annually without the presence of the
executive Director and non-executive Directors.
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Directors will receive a formal, comprehensive and tailored induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure that
he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of the director’s responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, other legal
and regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.

The Company from time to time fund and arrange suitable
training to all Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in relation to their duties and responsibilities, such that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All
Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at
the Company’s expense and they have been requested to provide
the Company with their training records. According to the training
records maintained by the Company, all Directors, namely Dr. Ko,
Ms. Cheung, Mr. CK Ko, Mr. Chan Cheong Tat, Ms. Tse Ka Wing
and Mr. Ho Chi Shing, had participated in continuous professional
development during the Year by reading newspapers, journals
and updates relating to the economy, general business, corporate
governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities and/or
attending training sessions organised by professional bodies in Hong
Kong.

Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board is scheduled to meet four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days
in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice will be given in a
reasonable time in advance. The Directors are allowed to include any
matter in the agenda that is required for discussion and resolution at
the Board meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on
issues arising at each of the Board meetings and to make informed
decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers will be
sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended date of
the Board meeting, or such other period as agreed. The Company
Secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the Board meetings’ minutes will be
circulated to the Directors for their comment and record respectively
within a reasonable time after each Board meeting and the final
version is open for the Directors’ inspection.
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The Board held four meetings during the Year and, amongst other
matters, considered and approved the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and
the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the six months ended 30 September 2024.

One general meeting of the Company was held during the Year.

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and the
general meeting held during the Year is as follows:

Name of Directors

Dr. Ko =ET
Ms. Cheung SR+
Mr. CK Ko SIEEEE
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESLAE
Ms. Tse Ka Wing A AL LT
Mr. Ho Chi Shing AT

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a policy relating to Board diversity and
discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the same.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity
of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All the
appointments of the Board members shall be based on the positive
contribution to be brought by the proposed candidate to the
Company, its subsidiaries and/or its affiliated companies. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Board currently comprises of six Directors, two of which are
female. Our diversity philosophy is to avoid a single gender Board.
One is in the age group of 30-39, one is in the age group of
40-49, two are in the age group of 50-59 and two in the age
group of 70-79. The background of our Directors includes business
administration, E&M engineering, economics and finance, financial
management, tax, accountancy, engineering and law. In view of
these, the Nomination Committee was of the opinion that the Board
consisted of members with diversified gender, age, cultural and
education background, professional/business experience, skills and
knowledge. The Board is of the view that it has achieved gender
diversity.

GENDER DIVERSITY OF THE GROUP

The workforce of the Group currently comprises a total of 238
employees, of which 190 are male (approximately 79.8%) and 48
are female (approximately 20.2%). As the principal business of the
Group is the provision of E&M engineering services, which is labour
intensive, the Group is of the view that it is challenging to achieve
gender diversity in the workforce. Nevertheless, with the Group’s
recruitment system, we will strive to achieve a gender diversity of
35% female employees in the coming five years.

The senior management of the Group currently comprises a total of
2 people, both of which are male. This is principally due to the fact
that there are only approximately 20.2% female employees in the
Group. The Group will continue to source outstanding talents both
within and outside the Group to strive and achieve gender diversity
in the senior management level in the coming five years.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Dr. Ko is the Chairman and the
CEO. He has been managing the Group’s business and supervising
the overall operations of the Group since 2000. The Board considers
that vesting the roles of the Chairman and the CEO in Dr. Ko is
beneficial to the management and business development of the
Group and will provide a strong and consistent leadership to the
Group. The Board has a total of six Directors and three of them are
INEDs who are qualified professionals and/or experienced individuals.
As all major decisions are made in consultation with all the Board
members who meet on a regularly basis to review the operations of
the Group, and shall be approved by majority approval of the Board,
with the three INEDs on the Board scrutinising important decisions
and offering independent perspectives, the Board believes that
there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure sufficient balance
of powers within the Board. The Board will continue to review
and consider splitting the roles of the Chairman and the CEO at a
time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The written terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are published on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Audit
Committee comprises two INEDs, namely Ms. Tse Ka Wing and Mr.
Chan Cheong Tat, and the non-executive Director Mr. CK Ko. Ms. Tse
is the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include
but are not limited to:

e making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, and
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and handling any questions of resignation or
dismissal of that auditor;

e reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

e discussing with the auditors the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

e  developing and implementing a policy on the engagement of
an external auditor to supply non-audit services;

e monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial statements,
annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if prepared
for publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them;

e  discussing the risk management and internal control systems
with the Company’s management to ensure that management
has performed its duty to have effective systems. This
discussion should include the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function;
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e reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices; and

e reviewing arrangements employees of the Group and those
who deal with the Group (e.g. customers and suppliers)
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters.

During the Year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and,
amongst other matters, considered and approved for presentation
to the Board for consideration and approval the draft audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 and the draft unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the six months ended 30
September 2024, as well as reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group , adequacy of staff experience,
qualifications, resources of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting departments, training programs and budget and
re-appointment of external auditor.

The attendance of each Director in the capacity of a member of the
Audit Committee at the meetings held during the Year is as follows:

Name of Directors

Ms. Tse Ka Wing e T
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESLE
Mr. CK Ko SIEEEE

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The written terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee are published on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
Remuneration Committee comprises two INEDs, namely Mr. Ho Chi
Shing and Mr. Chan Cheong Tat, and an executive Director Dr. Ko.
Mr. Ho is the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include but are not limited to:

e  making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing a remuneration policy;

e reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;
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®  making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. This should include benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment;

®  making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

e  ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

e reviewing and/or approving matters relating to the share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held
and, amongst other matters, made recommendations to the Board
on (i) the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management; and (i) the remuneration of non-executive
Directors (including the INEDs).

The attendance of each Director in the capacity of a member of the

Remuneration Committee at the meetings held during the Year is as
follows:

Name of Directors

Mr. Ho Chi Shing A&
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESLAE
Dr. Ko SiET

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The written terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee are published on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
Nomination Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Chan
Cheong Tat, Mr. Ho Chi Shing and Ms. Tse Ka Wing (appointed
on 1 July 2025), and an executive Director, Dr. Ko. Mr. Chan is the
chairperson of the Nomination Committee.
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The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include but are not limited to:

° reviewing the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background
or professional experience) of the Board at least annually and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Group’s corporate strategy;

e identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and making recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

e assessing the independence of the INEDs and reviewing
the INEDs’ annual confirmations on their independence,
and making disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company;

*  making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief executive of
the Group; and

* reviewing the Board diversity policy periodically and making
disclosure of the policy or a summary of the policy in the
corporate governance report of the Company annually.

During the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held and,
amongst other matters, (i) reviewed the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board; (ii) reviewed the Board Diversity Policy
and Nomination Policy; (iii) assessed the independence of the INEDs;
and (iv) reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the
re-appointment of the retiring Directors at the AGM.

The attendance of each Director in the capacity of a member of the
Nomination Committee at the meeting held during the Year is as
follows:

Name of Directors

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESLAE
Mr. Ho Chi Shing RIS E
Dr. Ko =iET

REZBENIZACKBEERERETRN :

s EAEBFRUEFTENRE  RE AKX
(BHhEE - AR ER) KB ZTE(8
BETRRMES - Fik - UERHBEER
FEELR) R UREMEAANEER
CEREMESESSHELNESHRLE

=
=22

. MEAREAARTRAEEESMANA
+ o WREREIREBAEENALAE
FRIRLRS

o IEBEMIERITESZHE L EWEEE L
ERTESHEBY MELNFERR
£ WEARARBEEAMENEELE
AR

s HEAABHZAEZFENREF(LEHREIRE
RASEEITHRAES ) WEETEINESSR
hEeE - &

. EHRTEFESTERRLSERARL
AL R EARENIEERAREERBY
5 -

MAFE - REZBEQCAMIREE - (HTE
ERIEFTEMRE - AR - AR RSEIE
(R EFEZ BB RERBCR ¢ (i)t fh
BIUFATEFTNBE LML  RivRTEFERN
BRRBFAG EERREREESURULRMEE
& e

& FCEIT

No. of Attendance/

No. of Meeting
HERE, SRR

11
11
11

EREEEZERERAT 2025558

61



62

Nomination Policy

Nomination Procedures

(1)  The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall convene a
meeting, and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members (if any), for consideration by the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee may also nominate
candidates for its consideration.

(2) In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate
to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall undertake
adequate due diligence in respect of such individual and make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

(3) In the context of re-appointment of any existing member(s)
of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation, for the proposed candidates to stand for re-
election at a general meeting.

(4)  The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting.

Shareholders may also nominate a person to stand for election as
a Director at a general meeting in accordance with the Articles of
Association and applicable laws and regulations. The procedures for
such proposal are posted on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

Selection Criteria

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider
a variety of factors including without limitation the following in
assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:

(@)  reputation for integrity;

(b) accomplishment, experience and reputation in the E&M
engineering industry and other relevant sectors;

(0 commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and
attention to the Company’s business;

(d) diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional

experience, skills, knowledge and experience;

(e) the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;
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(f)  compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of an
INED; and

() any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions as set out in code provision of the CG Code,
which include:

e  developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

e reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

*  reviewing and monitoring the Company'’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and

e reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years with effect from 18
September 2022. Each of the INEDs and the non-executive Director
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years commencing on 18 September 2022.

None of the Directors has a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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All the Directors, including INEDs, are subject to retirement
by rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance with the
Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association. At each
AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The
Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to
obtain the number required) any Director who wishes to retire and
not to offer himself/herself for re-election. Any further Directors so
to retire shall be those who have been the longest in office since
their last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day,
those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves)
be determined by lot.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company
after his/her appointment and shall be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM
and shall then be eligible for re-election.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the Year are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (other than the Directors)
whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report for the
Year by band is set out below:

FrENEEE (LB )

Remuneration band (in HK$)

1,000,001 to 1,500,000

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) was engaged as
the Group's independent auditor.
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The remuneration paid/payable to Deloitte for audit and non-audit
services in respect of the Year is set out below:

RAEE - ghET RIFERARBON, N2
RS T -

Fee paid/payable

Services Bt ENER

HK$'000

T

Audit services — Annual audit ELT RS — FEER 550
Non-audit services IEEET RS

— Tax services fee — RIS B 61

— Interim review — R EREE R 150

Total FEE 761

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In addition, Deloitte has stated in the independent auditor’s report
its reporting responsibilities on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the Year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that
the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. The Board oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems. The Board
acknowledges that such risk management and internal control
systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risks
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The Group has established an enterprise risk management
policy in order to provide sound and effective risk management.
This sets out a framework for the identification, analysis, evaluation,
treatment, monitoring and reporting of the Group’s key risks,
with a view to supporting the achievement of the Group’s overall
strategic objectives. The Company does not have an internal audit
department. The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit
function and currently takes the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. The need for an internal
audit function will be reviewed from time to time.
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In view of the Group's business and scale of operations, and in order
to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic
reviews of the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems, the Board has engaged an independent consultant firm
to execute the internal audit function. Independent consultant
has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and financial reporting procedures, systems
and control for the Year. The report issued by the independent
consultant firm was reviewed by the Audit Committee and the
Board and no major issue was raised for improvement.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group covering all material controls, including
financial, operational, strategic and compliance controls and has
considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company'’s
accounting and financial reporting functions. The Board considers
that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective. The Board expects that a review of the
risk management and internal control systems will be performed
annually.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced promptly when it is the subject of a decision.
The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

e the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by
the SFC in June 2012;

e the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

e the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

e the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the Company Secretary and
the chief financial officer of the Company are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Mr. Cheng Chi Wai (“Mr. Cheng”).
Details of the biography of Mr. Cheng are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report.

Mr. Cheng has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the Year pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

All members of the Board can have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary. The appointment and removal of the
Company Secretary has been/will be subject to the Board's approval.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are welcome to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be
discussed at Shareholders’ meeting. Proposals may be sent to the
Board or the Company Secretary by written requisition. Shareholders
who wish to make proposals or move a resolution may, however,
convene an extraordinary general meeting (the "EGM") in
accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
EGM"” set out below.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition, including making proposals or
moving a resolution at the EGM.

Eligible Shareholder(s) who wish(es) to convene an EGM for the
purpose of making proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM
must deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the
Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned (the “Requisitionist(s)”) at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

The Requisition must state clearly the name(s) of the Requisitionist(s)
concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s)
to convene an EGM and the proposed agenda.
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The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and
shareholding of the Requisitionist(s) will be verified with the
Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. If the Requisition
is found to be proper and in order, the Company Secretary will
ask the Board to convene an EGM and/or include the proposal(s)
made or the resolution(s) proposed by the Requisitionist(s) at the
EGM within 2 months after the deposit of the Requisition. On the
contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not in order, the
Requisitionist(s) will be advised of the outcome and accordingly,
the Board or the Company Secretary will not call for an EGM nor
include the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the
Requisitionist(s) at the EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition, the Board or
the Company Secretary fails to proceed to convene an EGM, the
Requisitionist(s) himself/herself/themselves may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board or the Company Secretary to
convene the EGM shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Send Enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
or their notification of change of correspondence address or their
dividend/distribution instructions to the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by post to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong at Unit A, 19/F, TML Tower, No. 3 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen
Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

Upon receipt of the enquiries, the Company Secretary will forward
the communications relating to:

1. the matters within the Board’s purview to the executive
Directors;

2. the matters within a Board committee’s area of responsibility
to the chairperson of the appropriate committee; and

3. ordinary business matter, such as suggestions, enquiries and

customer complaints to the appropriate management of the
Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy that in recommending or
declaring dividends and has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the Shareholders, subject to the Memorandum of

Association and Articles of Association and all applicable laws and

regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the

Group when considering the declaration or recommendation of

dividends:

(@)  earnings and financial condition;

(b) financial results;

(c) cash flow situation;

(d)  business conditions and strategies;

(e)  future operations requirements;

(f)  capital requirements and expenditure plans;

(9) interests of Shareholders;

(h) the general economic and political conditions and other
external factors that may have an impact on the future
business and financial performance of the Group;

(i) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

() any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the

conditions and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed

and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period:

(@) interim dividend;

(b) final dividend;

(c)  special dividend; and

(d) any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.
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Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’
approval. The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.
Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Memorandum of Association and
Articles of Association. There can be no assurance that dividends
of such amount or any amount will be declared or distributed each
year or in any year.

COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders communication policy
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have equal
and timely access to information about the Company in order to
enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner and allow them to engage actively with the Company.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the
Company’s financial reports, circulars, AGMs and EGMs that may be
convened as well as all the published disclosures submitted to the
Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Company reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders communication policy and
considered it to be effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has not made
any changes to its constitutional documents. The Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association is available on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Board proposes to amend the existing Articles of Association for
the purposes of, among others, bringing the Articles of Association
in line with the relevant amendments of the Listing Rules in relation
to the further expansion of the paperless listing regime and treasury
shares; and make other housekeeping and miscellaneous amendments
to the Articles of Association.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF
ACCEL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Accel
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 160,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT & 3 # BTk &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRELER

Revenue recognition from provision of electrical and
mechanical (“E&M") engineering services

RERHBE(HE ) TERBIKEER

We identified the revenue recognition from provision of
E&M engineering services as a key audit matter due to its
significance to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole and management’s estimate is involved in determining
the revenue when contracts progress.

IR BIRMEHRETRERG W RER BRI AERERSE
B RARHHGEVBHRABRREZENABETANER
Wasb s kB ErfhaT o

As set out in notes 5 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group derived its revenue from provision
of E&M engineering services over time and recognised
HK$556,417,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025.
Revenue from provision of such services is recognised over
time using input method, i.e. based on actual costs incurred
by the Group to date compared with total budgeted costs
for the projects to estimate the revenue recognised during
the year.

WMFE BRI R21F7E - EXEREREEER
FEER AR AR E T2 MRS - WS E20259F3A31H
LF 5 [ #E78556,417,0007 7T © 2R B IR LU KR AR5 P15 Mo
SRERROEDERE LR - BIRE SRELZS
IFEEARERAAREIE B WRTRE B AEI TR - Mﬁ?
RNF EHERHUE °
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANFTMARREARETBR

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition
for provision of E&M engineering services included:

19 BB ALK T T A2 RS 0 I 25 FER A0 TR 5 3 1A
THIE

° Obtaining an understanding on how the
management recognises the revenue from the
provision of E&M engineering services and how
the total budget costs are determined,;

o THEBEWRKBRMKEIREREEENT
FEANRBEEKNAEEN A

o Agreeing the project contract sum and values of
variation orders, where applicable, to the relevant
signed contracts and the correspondence with
customers on a sample basis;

e BEEANTHELAIREZHESEE(NER)H
HEE RS K NET P& TR

o Assessing the accuracy of actual total costs
incurred for the year by checking against the
supporting documents including the payment
certificates or invoices issued by the major
subcontractors, suppliers or vendors, on a sample
basis;

o  HEEHIESBR HERHERLANIFR
X (BB REBRARER) UL AFECE
A REBRKAREREN

o Checking the total budget costs against the
underlying contracts, quotation and other
correspondence with subcontractors, suppliers or
vendors of individual projects on a sample basis;
and

e  REEREEEBEY  HmERESBRH - #
EAXERNEAMBA - MEREEERARE
' &

° Assessing the accuracy of revenue recognised
for the year by recalculating the revenue based
on the percentage of completion of the contract
based on the input method.

o  FRBREBAIENAEENSGHTRE DL
Wt FHEFE RS MEﬁﬁo
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) FAREEZEEm@m)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RREZER RMNFTMAEREARETER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets

B RUWHAER S NEE ZRER G

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables and Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
contract assets as a key audit matter due to the significance of trade receivables and contract assets included:

of trade receivables and contract assets to the Group's HMBEBE SHEBGIERENEE RENHEFE
consolidated financial statements and the involvement of #% :

subjective judgment and management estimates in assigning

internal credit ratings to trade receivables and contract assets Understanding the process on how the

and calculating the expected credit losses (“ECL") rates for management assigns internal credit ratings
the impairment assessment. on trade receivables and contract assets and
B E S RRFIERENEEZRENMR A —HREE calculates the ECL rates;

%EIE - DTHERESRKFEREHNEEY EXENGE o THREEEMRBEZIREFERANEES LA
R EERNARESHRRFTERENEEDBEANIE SERT T EEREEBHEXTAANRE

B EREFANEREEER((AREERR]D X
B R E B e B IR E AT

As set out in notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s trade receivables and contract
assets amounting to approximately HK$107,546,000 and
HK$262,311,000, which represented approximately 18.3%
and 44.6%, respectively, of total assets of the Group as at
31 March 2025.

iR A MR T20 21578 - ERENE HRKFIE
K& KB E#XA107,546,00078 7T £2262,311,000/ 7T * 9 B
i BE5EN2025F3A31HBEEMNL183%K44.6% °
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT & 3 # BTk &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HREZSEH

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets

B2 RURFARESNEE ZRERE

As disclosed in notes 4 and 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group performs
impairment assessment on individual debtor basis to
estimate the amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables and
contract assets based on assigned internal credit ratings and
calculated ECL rates with adjustment for forward-looking
information which are estimated based on external sources
of data.

EUBMEANT4RISAHER - E5SEEREREE
EW*IME.,\.:V&&.# STRHEEEEE I;T%EW\;.E%W‘“
FORMEETEVRTIE M ERBEITHRE - 1R E R U ARREEETT
BIERHE - DA1$§+%3%JZWMIE&E\%’]ﬁ?ﬁ’]%gﬁﬁ,ﬁﬂﬁ/\
[k

As disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, allowance for credit losses of trade receivables
and contract assets were HK$1,219,000 and HK$2,000,000
respectively as at 31 March 2025.
BANERE BRI R M FE35 Pl - 70202563 A31H - B
WHIBREHNEENEEEBREEDRI&1,219,0008 T &
2,000,000/ 7T °
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANFSTNARRERESTBR

Assessing management’s basis and judgment
in assigning the internal credit rating on each
debtor related to trade receivable and contract
asset balances with reference to repayment
history, past due status, size and/or creditability
of respective debtors as at 31 March 2025; and
2ER2025F3A31 BEERURREERESL -
BHEOR - RE R SHERAMR - SHMEEEEY
BT 5 RIEKRIEN AN EERHEBHNTIEER
RO BE A EME B AT AR AR R e - &

Testing the calculations of ECL rates with
adjustment for forward-looking information by
checking to the external sources of data used in
the calculations to see if the data is appropriately
and consistently applied in the ECL model.

BB EAEREAOIMNEBIRRIR - ﬁlJEﬁ%’Tﬁl‘
EMEERETRARNFAMEEERENAE - A
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Accel Group Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT &3 #Z 21 Ef R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ho Sin Ying (practicing certificate no. P08228).

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HeREEMEmEINER

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Bl 320254331 H 1L F/E
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTET FAT
Revenue = 5 556,417 553,537
Cost of services BRFS AR (467,892) (465,703)
Gross profit EF 88,525 87,834
Other income, gains and losses, net HAWA - Wezh B 1RF 88 6 6,009 4,064
Impairment losses under expected credit ~ FEHRZEEBIBER T 2 RE
loss model, net of reversal BT - FORREE[E (1,482) (706)
Administrative expenses THFX (34,877) (40,670)
Finance costs TSR AR 7 (1,118) (1,722)
Profit before taxation BRBE A& 8 57,057 48,800
Income tax expense TSt X 10 (10,037) (8,381)
Profit for the year FREF 47,020 40,419
Profit for the year attributable to: FREEER :
Owners of the Company RAFHB A 46,253 40,792
Non-controlling interests IR 767 (373)
47,020 40,419
Other comprehensive expense Hitt2EMAX
Item that will not be reclassified to profit — #T&E ¥ S Eas 698
or loss H
Loss on fair value changes of financial ~ fEFEIR AT EFAEMEE
asset designated at fair value through WS ([ AP EFAHM
other comprehensive income EERE DNSHEEN
("FVTOCI") N EEEEE (4.140) -
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREM 2R X (4,140) -
Total comprehensive income for the  ER2EKFHALE
year 42,880 40,419
Total comprehensive income for the  FREEEZENFLLE :
year attributable to:
Owners of the Company KAREBA 42,113 40,792
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR AR 767 (373)
42,880 40,419
HK cents HK cents
AL P
Earnings per share BREF 12
— Basic —HK 5.77 5.10
- Diluted —#F 5.75 5.09
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FEMIEARR R

As at 31 March 2025

FR2025F3H31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB KR 15 62,146 68,227
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 16 3,870 9,390
Investment property EME 17 5,231 5,452
Investment under equity method N AZENIRE 18 4 -
Payments for life insurance YEke 19 - 7,098
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 27 996 859
Financial asset at fair value through BEAFEFABR(RD
profit or loss (“FVTPL") TEFABZE]ODRE
BE 13 - 5,000
Financial asset at FVTOC]I A ERT AHMMETE
mHRRIEE 14 5,957 -
Finance lease receivable BVE R E UGS - 1,266
Deposits and prepayments e RIENFRIA 20 329 1,462
78,533 98,754
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables, B NEMBUEIE - &
deposits and prepayments & RTEFRIA 20 121,835 84,417
Finance lease receivable ElmERE - 1,095
Financial asset at FVTPL BAERAEBZNE2H
BE 13 5,540 -
Payments for life insurance xfEme 19 7,729 -
Contract assets BHEE 21 262,311 242,049
Tax recoverable A e U F IR - 926
Pledged bank balances BHEAIRITER 22 5,000 505
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEED 22 107,397 98,428
509,812 427,420
Current liabilities RBas
Trade and retention payables and B S ENIA - EARE
accruals S REFER 23 82,843 58,683
Contract liabilities BHIEE 21 14,806 6,791
Tax payable R TIE 8,882 2,971
Bank loans RITEN 24 26,635 23,594
Lease liabilities HEBE 25 2,393 7,190
135,559 99,229
Net current assets REEEZFE 374,253 328,191
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 452,786 426,945
Non-current liability FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 1,654 5,250
Net assets EEFE 451,132 421,695

BREEEZERERAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION #& B i AkiR R
As at 31 March 2025
20253 H31H

2025 2024
2025%F 2024%F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
Capital and reserves BEXR#E

Share capital LN 26 8,108 8,108
Reserves 1 443,348 414,727

Equity attributable to owners of the XA T#EA AFE(LEZ
Company 451,456 422,835
Non-controlling interests FERER (324) (1,140)
Total equity R 451,132 421,695

The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 160 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26
June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Dr. Ko Lai Hung
BREEL
DIRECTOR

EFE
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AESESHEREETIETHUATEEREE
% :

Ms. Cheung Mei Lan
REMLE
DIRECTOR
EBE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share
capital

B
HK$/000
TR

Share
premium

R
HK$'000
T

FEEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
Bl 202593531 HIFFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
NG LN 3
Share  Investment Non-
award revaluation  Other  Retained controlling
reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Total interests
RokR REEf FER
Erkb i B EbRE  RELA &3t Bi
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tkn  TEn AL AT Thr  TERn 7
Note)
(h)

Treasury
shares

At 31 March 2023 R0BE3A3NA 8,000 195,606 - - - (725800 267153 398,179 (767) 397412
Profit (oss) and total comprehensive AR () R2ARE

income (expense) for the year (Foes - - - - - - Wm0 B13) 40419
Recogition of equity-setted BEREE R BER

share-based payment (note 28) HRH(E2) - - -6t - - - e -2
lsuance of shares in connection with 51202317 B3 B T

the 2023 Share Award Scheme R (ezRME8)

(s defined in note 28) 108 - (108) - - - - - - -
Shares vested under the 2023 Share R E2023E A %ERTER

Award Scheme BRNRN (T2 AN

(as defined in note 28) ) - - " (1,09) - - 1,083 - - -
Dividends recognised as distrbution BB AARAIREH3E11)

(note 1) - - - - - - (184000 (18,400) - (18400
At 31 March 2024 12024538318 8,108 195,606 (97) 1170 - (72580) 290,628 422,835 (1,140) 421,695
Profit for the year Emgs - - - - - - 46283 4628 %1 47000
Loss on fair value changes of financial -~ FATEFFAZ 2 ENEN

asset at VIOl SREEVATERDE

£ - - - - () - - (40 - (440

Total comprehensive (expense)income R (B0 it

for the year - - - - (4,140) - 46,253 2113 767 42,880
Recognition of equity-setfled BEREE RN BER

share-based payment (note 28) HAF(8) - - - 19 - - - 19 - 19
Capital contributon from L T

non-controlling interest of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - 4 49
Shares vested under the 203 Share 1R 203 {7 B3 EIE

Award Scheme (as defined innote 28)  EBAIRG (FEE

Hizs) - - 1" (10) - - 106 - - -

Dividends recognised as distrbution B AAREIREHi311)

(note 1) - - - - - - (15406)  (15406) - (15,400)
A 31 March 2025 HOsE33318 BB 19606 (B) 2047 (M0 (R0) S0 546 (W) 45K

Note: The other reserve arose from: (i) deemed distribution arising from the

BieE c bR e (VR RBEFEREFRA—BA

imputed interest income on non-current interest-free advances to
a shareholder of the Company (as defined in note 1) amounting to
HK$10,190,000 in prior years; (ii) issuance of ordinary shares of the
Company for the reorganisation of the Group for the listing of the
Company'’s ordinary shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
(as defined in note 1) completed on 30 November 2018 amounting to
HK$72,266,000; and (iii) deemed contribution arising from the waiver
of an amount due to a shareholder of the Company amounting to
HK$9,876,000.

ATIRE(EHE BT EHIERNBMe a8 %
Bk E R B U A B 5 IE 10,190,00058 7T ¢ (i)t
2018F 11 A30H AR RIMEBBEREBH AR
SHBERARER EM(EERMFNNAREE
BHBITARE EENT2,266,000/8 7T ¢ K
BEREBEREEN —BARFIREFREHER
9,876,000/8 7T °

BREEEZERERAT 20255F8HK

81



82

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FaRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Bl 320254331 H 1L F/E
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEH
Profit before taxation Br AR Bl A 57,057 48,800
Adjustments for: BNFIEB EH % -
Depreciation of property, plant and Mm% - BELRBITE
equipment 5,658 5,663
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 4,061 5,139
Depreciation of investment property KEMENE 221 221
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME - BB K&z F W
and equipment, net (645) (20)
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use AL TER P AR B E W
assets (135) (33)
Impairment losses under expected EHEEEBRER THRES
credit loss model, net of reversal B - MkREE 1,482 706
Loss (gain) on early termination of IRATR RV E TR EMEE
finance lease (Wezs) 110 (32)
Interest income FILEHA (1,472) (839)
Fair value gain on financial asset at BRATEFAER ERMEEZ
FVTPL NHEKEE (540) -
Adjustment of carrying value of XSk e R ETRE
payments for life insurance (543) -
Gain on waiver of amount due to R EN —KHE AR FEER
a non-controlling interest of T mr RIA W 5
a subsidiary (1,205) -
Finance costs BE TR AR 1,118 1,722
Share-based payments expenses LA BERES 2 X 1,914 2,264
Operating cash flows before movements  &iEESEERINEERSRE
in working capital 67,081 63,591
(Increase) decrease in trade and other B MEMBWEIAR - me KB
receivables, deposits and prepayments HE )R (36,070) 37,714
(Increase) decrease in contract assets ABHEEGEI) R (20,311) 16,183
Increase (decrease) in trade and retention B S ENFIE - FEMHRES L IETE
payables and accruals FEMCRL) 26,297 (19,523)
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities AHEaEEMCRD) 8,015 (9,541)
Cash generated from operations KEFTSIRE 45,012 88,424
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BREENEH (3,337) (3,902)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING RETHAERERE
ACTIVITIES 41,675 84,522

Accel Group Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2025



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

=
e

N - —1

ReERER
For the year ended 31 March 2025
B2 2025F3 31 HIFFE

2024
20244

HK$'000
TAT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Purchases of property, plant and BEME  WEKRRE
equipment (52) (13,022)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  ME MKEEHIE
plant and equipment 1,120 20
Purchase of financial asset at FVTOCI BEEAVEFAEMEEKERN
TEEE (10,097) -
Placement of pledged bank balances FABERRITARR (5,000) -
Release of pledged bank balances EIRIRRITAE R AR R 505 11,995
Payment received from finance lease B EEHER - 187
Advances to non-controlling interests of [ B2 B FEIE AR 2 AU EA TR
subsidiaries - (1,210)
Repayments from non-controlling RE—HMB AR TR EREN
interest of a subsidiary - 1,199
Interest received BUFE 1,384 717
Advance to a related party IR — %4 B 75 23K (750) -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ARREZFB2ERE
ACTIVITIES (12,890) (114)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
New bank loans raised MEEMRITER 22,000 10,000
Repayments of bank loans ERRITER (18,959) (33,956)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEERE (5,397) (4,701)
(Repayment to) advances from (A —FE B A AR 2 B XD
non-controlling interest of a subsidiary KA —HEHB AR TR ERR
b (936) 940
Dividends paid B E (15,406) (18,400)
Interest paid B F B (1,118) (1,722)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ARmEETBHERE
ACTIVITIES (19,816) (47,839)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RERRESEYHFEM
CASH EQUIVALENTS 8,969 36,569
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FENBRERRAEEEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 98,428 61,859
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERNEERREEEY
AT END OF THE YEAR, BRITHESBRRE
represented by bank balances and
cash 107,397 98,428
SREEZERERAT 2025553
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR I ER R EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B ZBHZHI - GLETTIT)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Accel Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under
the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands on 20
September 2018, and its shares have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 18 October 2019. The addresses of
the registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company are Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and Room A, 19/F,
TML Tower, 3 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories,
Hong Kong, respectively. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the ultimate controlling parties are Dr. Ko Lai Hung
("Dr. Ko”) and Ms. Cheung Mei Lan (“Ms. Cheung”, who
is the wife of Dr. Ko). The immediate and ultimate holding
company of the Company is Lightspeed Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI").

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
"Group”) is principally engaged in provision of electrical and
mechanical ("E&M") engineering services typically involving
supply, installation and maintenance of mechanical ventilation
and air-conditioning systems.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #4&& B i8R R M sE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual period beginning on 1 April 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current and related amendments

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

The application of all the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

e =]

i m ok ey 2
BitBHIh - HLGET

R BB EREETHE
R R EAERT A&
RAFERFERNEBYBRS
ST ERMERT A

RAFE  AEEEXERBETESE
RE((BREHALE])EMZN20245F
471 Bt 2 FEHRR ARz THE
BRI REGFTEAETA - UREEE
IS -

EENBHREENE 6 E/EENHEEAR

CHES

ERGHENFIREBITA BAESEARDRIE
TP REERESSH
(2020 )iBB 17 AR

ERGHENFIRBITA WELZENERDAR

ERGEANEIR R HERRE L

ERUBREERETR

CHES

=

RAFERBAAERBYBRE 2 ER
BAATBUAEERANFERBEFE
BB R R SRR A& M IRK AR
HIRBEERBENEATE -

SEREEZERERLT 2025FFH
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AIETCSNZIN

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and
and HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
and HKFRS 7 Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture!'
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards - Volume 113
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

Except as described below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 8RR MiEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

The amendments to HKFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and
add an exception which permits an entity to deem a financial
liability to be discharged before the settlement date if it is
settled in cash using an electronic payment system if, and only
if certain conditions are met.

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 in respect of
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are amended. In
particular, entities are required to disclose the fair value gain
or loss presented in other comprehensive income during
the period, showing separately those related to investments
derecognised during the reporting period and those related to
investments held at the end of the reporting period. An entity
is also required to disclose any transfers of the cumulative gain
or loss within equity related to the investments derecognised
during the reporting period. In addition, the amendments
introduce the requirements of qualitative and quantitative
disclosure of contractual terms that could affect the
contractual cash flow based on a contingent event not directly
relating to basic lending risks and cost.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A ae. P —

(PRFA B aL YN * ZFAETC YN

EEMGENRERNFTE BT S
WESTEREET AR @)

BRI E R E I R EERI T
EEREIFETEAEB TR TR
FTEZIEET A
ERUBREENZREITAEETSHE
ElEBAEZHERANRK LR - N
—IEPISMER - BNE BEEFEE TG
B RFERBAEREFNRESLAR
cHEZERMBERARGEE R ZAE
fif e

BRI EERE 7R ERIEE /AT
Bt AR EEREs BETANREZ
BREMRED TER - LEE  BRANE
REREBEHEKREANZS 2 A FEKS
HEE - D RITIRERIRE A E AR 1
RZRERREEMERNRERRTE 2K
BRfE - ERTARBERREHACDK
IR AR 2 m A Rt a sk E 1R
ZAEATEERE o WO RFHERT ARSI
REREENIAEH(AMEBEXEERR
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FRETEEREERBEZER -
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FEREMELR - XAFFIRFER - &
RAZFET AR TS H AR B BN
RERBENERTE
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(R L A5 27 AH AL

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be disclosed
in the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures. Minor amendments to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per
Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation of
the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i $R R i

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A am 4 / S — 7y —

(ERAB it A8 TS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZEUBBRENEEREK

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2 BEREH

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 3.1 REMBHRREREE
financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been REMBREDBERESSTAIAE
prepared in accordance with the HKFRS Accounting BB BV BME ST ERRE -
Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of MRBRAVHEHREME - MBEBEE
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, HeBEHerEFERAPIELEMR
information is considered material if such information E - BIBEBERRRER o 1L -
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by FEMBRRBEMRIES TR
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial A R BB R RHEDIRE B E A3 E -

statements includes applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of EEMGETERET - ARFES
approving the consolidated financial statements, a BIETEHAEE A EMERTA R
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate REEEEE - At - WEEERAR

resources to continue in operational existence for the BREE ST EERRIREMBIRE -
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the

going concern basis of accounting in preparing the

consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been RE B SR TIRE L AN EELR
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain B ETERTANRESHELK
financial instruments, which are measured at fair value MAFEGTE(N TS BORATE
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the i) o

accounting policies set out below.

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 ERSTTEERER
Basis of consolidation AOEE
The consolidated financial statements incorporate FREMBRERBERARRAQTN
the financial statements of the Company and entities TR B B R E B A B R B R
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. x o
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group RS BRES B QB R
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the BRI B A E A O - TE ANEE
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income KEWB A RIEHIER - AIKRIES
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed Bt ABBME RAFERERHE
of during the year are included in the consolidated BB A RRRARRY - RAEHE
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive EEEHEE AR AL ERRE
income from the date the Group gains control until the HEmliEX  BEEASEENEA
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. AIRIESIERIEE B AL

BREEEZERERAT 20255F8HK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i $R R i

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

=0 o ) St = T =
Br 5 A 5+ 05/ >

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

7

=)

BTN

(&)

BRBREREEREKR
BRE

3.2 EAREHHEER®

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers
Information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to contracts with customers is provided in notes
5and 21.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial asset at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial asset
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. %R
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

=)

PEHERFEREERE KX
BERER @)

3.2 EXEFHEER @)

Financial instruments (continued) THET A
Financial assets THEE
Classification and subsequent measurement of PRMEENHREENE

financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial
assets; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subseguent measurement of

financial assets (continued)

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. #r
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

=)

PEHERFEREERE KX
BERER @

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXSTTBERER @

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued) LT A )

Financial assets (continued) THEE#)

Classification and subsequent measurement of PHMEENDHREBEZE)

financial assets (continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (iy EEAEAFEFAHMEE

Wasz#Em T A

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are BAFEFAEMEERZE
subsequently measured at fair value with gains R TARERERIZATE
and losses arising from changes in fair value e EATFEEHELEK
recognised in other comprehensive income and m REERE A 2 WS R
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; KRR EBEMHEERT - BE
and are not subject to impairment assessment. The BYERERE - ZRET D
cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to profit EBEETEENIEEEER
or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and is REEZBE  EEERE R
transferred to retained profits. F e
Dividends from these investments in equity EAREEWER S MEN Y
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when B ZERERTARENRE
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is REZFHER - FRIER SRR
established, unless the dividends clearly represent FRAWEIEDIREKAE o &
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Bt ABmz EmA - Wz
Dividends are included in the “other income, gains MEEIJET -

and losses” line item in profit or loss.

(i) Financial asset at FVTPL (i) EAFEFABENEHEE
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for WA IR AR IR AT
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or Bt ARLMEEKERIETE R
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. BAFEFAEMEE R

EORANEREEDEAT
B AAZSHHE -

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value BATEFABENCMEE
at the end of each reporting period, with any BEERERRN AT EFEZ -
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or AR AFERZSEERIERE
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or FER o RIBRERMIEL
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on EEFETREReRNEER
the financial asset and is included in the “other R S FE - WEEA
income, gains and losses, net” line item. [E AU A - ek & B 18 %58
—1 -
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9")

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
on financial assets (including trade and other receivables,
refundable rental deposits, amounts due from non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries, finance lease
receivable, amount due from a related party, pledged
bank balances and bank balances) and other item
(i.e. contract assets) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these assets
are assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition in which case, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9") (continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument and contract assets as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument and contract assets as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

The Group has rebutted the presumption that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt
instrument or a contract asset has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument and the contract asset is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
or a contract asset is determined to have low credit
risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument or a contract asset
to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9") (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

The Group has rebutted the presumption that default
has occurred when a financial asset or a contract asset is
more than 90 days past due.

A financial asset or a contract asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset or a
contract asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9") (continued)

The Group writes off a financial asset or a contract
asset when there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise /ndlcared)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9") (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables, finance lease receivable and contract
assets where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and retention
payables, amount due to a non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary and bank loans) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of the reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon
exercising purchase options, the cost of the relevant
right-of-use assets and the related accumulated
depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to
property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBEARNEEREX
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERER@®

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EXEFHEER @)

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment;
or

. a lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i $R R i

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(A L3 A2

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise /nd/cared)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBEARNEEREX
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERER@®

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EXEFHEER @)

(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs not eligible for capitalisation are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS Accounting Standard
require or permit the inclusion of the benefit in the cost
of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages, salaries and annual leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme"”) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i $R R i

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Retirement benefits costs (continued)

For long service payment (“LSP”) obligation, the
Group accounts for the employer Mandatory Provident
Fund ("MPF") contributions expected to be offset
as a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP
obligation in terms of paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19
"Employee Benefits” and it is measure on a net basis.
The estimated amount of future benefit is determined
after deducting the negative service cost arising from
the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF
contributions that have been vested with employees,
which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Shares granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share award reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest based on
assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share award reserve.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share award reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and
at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i $R R i

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.

Payments for life insurance

Payments for life insurance was stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
adjusted for interest income and service charges, less
impairment losses, if any.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise /nd/cared)

3= ae. ) St =

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. BESTHHERETTHBE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION ENEERIR

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the JERAEESTEERE - RARIESEARR
directors of the Company are required to make judgments, RN SREMACREMNHNEERE
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of ERREEED FIE - A REBHR - BrE
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other B! Eﬁfﬁj*“EETFLE?%%?&%&ZEEE
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based AOEMEAERIEL - ERERTEEHIR
on historical experience and other factors that are considered ZEhE o

to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on ERAEFT RAABREBRR B EETR o W
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are BETERZ BB TR IR - AU Z EAfE
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if WRETAFTER] - IMETRKZE
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the IR R REAR - RBIRME AT BARE R R 2k A
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current ARG FHEFTREERT

and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the T RERKKNEZEE - RR@EL
future, and key sources of estimation uncertainty at end of REFEET TN EARIE =R E Z 2R - RATAE
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing HT—UHRFENEEBENREEE
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and RERFE -

liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue recognition from provision of E&M RERHEHRETIRRBEHKEER
engineering services

The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of E&M REERBEEEHIEB QRN K
engineering services according to the management’s FistERAB TR HTHEERRA LR
estimation of the total outcome of the project as well as the RHE TIEREHNE e Mom A - BIR
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance BASBIZSEENERKAMEIERNR
obligation measured based on input method, i.e. based A#EXZM‘EHZE? LA fd 51 6 1A i 3R 8 U
on actual costs incurred by the Group to date compared cREEEERESAEEENRISET
with total budgeted costs for the projects to estimate the #%‘ TREBRBEHE W= R ARG
revenue recognised during the year. Notwithstanding that EREBWERKANE @ GONERE
the management reviews and revises the estimates of both R R HERZEMET - MLETE
contract revenue and costs for the E&M engineering services BRI Mom A

as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of the contract

in terms of its total revenue and costs may be higher or lower

than the estimates and this will affect the revenue and profit

recognised.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group REZE2025F3831HIEFE  A&H
recognised revenue amounted to HK$556,417,000 (2024: #E 22 UK 25 556,417,000 7 JT (2024 F :
HK$553,537,000). 553,537,000/ 7T) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

JLYUZIN )

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets

The management of the Group performs impairment
assessment on individual debtor basis to estimate the amount
of lifetime ECL of trade receivables and contract assets based
on assigned internal credit ratings and calculated ECL rates
with adjustment for forward-looking information which are
estimated based on external sources of data. The forward-
looking information are market predications of certain key
Hong Kong economy indicators including gross domestic
products, unemployment rate, non-performing loans ratio
and Hong Kong money supply M2. At every reporting date,
the internal credit rating are reassessed and changes in the
external sources of data are considered in estimation of
impairment of trade receivables and contract assets.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL is disclosed in note 35.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and contract assets were HK$107,546,000
(2024: HK$70,592,000), and HK$262,311,000 (2024:
HK$242,049,000), respectively, after the allowance for credit
losses of the Group’s trade receivables of HK$1,219,000
(2024: HK$434,000) and the Group's contract assets of
HK$2,000,000 (2024: HK$1,951,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue of the Group arose from provision of E&M
engineering services typically rendered in Hong Kong under
long-term contracts and were recognised over time during the
year.

The Group provides E&M engineering services to customers
which are mainly landlords, construction companies and
contractors in Hong Kong private sector. All the Group's
provision of E&M Engineering services is made directly with
the customers.

The Group's contracts are mainly at fixed-price and payments
are made to the Group over the provision of E&M engineering
services once such services are performed and certified by
architects, surveyors or other representatives appointed by the
customers.

The Group may require certain customers to make advance
payments during the provision of E&M engineering services,
when the Group receives the advance payments before
provision of E&M engineering services, this will give rise to
contract liabilities, until the revenue recognised on the specific
contract exceeds the amount of such advances.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same
contract, is recognised over the period in which the provision
of E&M engineering services are performed representing the
Group’s right to consideration for the services performed
because the rights are conditioned on the relevant certification
by architects, surveyors or other representatives appointed by
the customers.

The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional upon the Group'’s services
certified by architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers.

5.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The Group's contracts with customers normally require it to
perform the obligations (including, amongst others, primarily
rectification of defects identified) under the contracts during
the defects liability period generally for 12 to 24 months after
issuance of practical completion certificates by customers.
The defect liability period serves as an assurance that the
construction services performed comply with agreed-upon
specifications and such assurance cannot be purchased
separately. 5% to 10% of each interim payment from the
customers is usually withheld by the customers as retention
receivables (as included in the Group’s contract assets) in
which 50% of the retention receivable is transferred to the
trade receivables for collection upon issuance of practical
completion certificates, and the remaining 50% of the
retention receivable is transferred to the trade receivables for
collection upon expiry of the defects liability period set out in
the relevant contracts.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) in respect of
provision of E&M engineering services as at 31 March 2025
amounting to HK$849,196,000 (2024: HK$926,159,000)
which is expected to be recognised as revenue in the following

years:

5.

Wiz R 2o EBE R

AEEREFNANBEEREE KA
EERHER T EREE12E24EAMN
BREETHABITANBE TS (HAF
BEETZAMECEENRIG) - RIBE
FHAREMEITNEERBHFELOTED
RE ZREBETEEBRE  -BFPSES
HNFRHS5% E10% BEHRT P HNERI
REEGIALAEENENEER) B
50% M) FE R [E & & 1 35 BB 5T TRE A
ERERTE P RUGHIBENHIE - ek
T50% R EBRE S EMRBELRTED
REETHEREEBREE S EKFIE
U -

PERERFHEBNEENZER

M2025F3HA31EDREEBARMEKET
ERENRHSBEOHET(RBITRIDRE
1T) YA 5 (B /849,196,000 7T (2024
F 1 926,159,000/ 70) * TEHIER AT F
EHER AW

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Within one year —FR 504,844 478,504
More than one year but not —F U BT BRMRF

more than two years 280,374 395,517

More than two years BB F 63,978 52,138

849,196 926,159
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W#HEKkDBER @

(continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining PERENBKBNEENRZER
performance obligations (continued) ()
The executive directors of the Company, being the chief RATIMPTES (X ELEERRE)E
operating decision maker, regularly review revenue recognised B ARE B s iR (A S T A2 AR A5 P i s /O U
and costs incurred for the provision of E&M engineering wmREFTEERKA - R REE MR
services and, therefore, considered the Group has only one LR ESFA L L HREANEEES—E
single reporting and operating segment under HKFRS 8 B-RERKEEDES o
Operating Segments.
All the Group's revenue was earned from customers located in AEBMNMBUREHRAMREBNE
Hong Kong and all its non-current assets (other than financial F - mEMBIEREEE (SR ITAKET
instruments and deferred tax assets) are situated in Hong MIBEERINIEREE -
Kong.
Revenue from customers for the year contributing over 10% RAEFEREEPIEREBAENGFEBR
of the total revenue of the Group are as follows: 10% M= T
2025 2024
2025 202445
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Customer A BFEA N/AT 38 F et (H5) 111,894
Customer B EFB N/AT 38 F ot (H5) 58,433
Customer C BFC N/AZ I8 F ot ) 67,377
Customer D EFD N/ATRIE F et () 55,048
Customer E =FE 71,320 N/AZ i FR
Note: The revenue incurred during the year contribute less than 10% MieE - FAEEHRAEARER LY AT 10%
of the total revenue of the Group. AT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 8RR MiEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(R LI Z523-pA b LA IN] SHE |—)
(BRABFEHRY) * ZHABITTY )

/L

6. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6. H#tlg A - WS REIEFEE

2025 2024
20254 20244F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Interest income FEUWA 1,472 839
(Loss) gain on early termination of RAMR IR ERER (B18) W
finance lease (110) 32
Gain on disposal of property, plantand HEWZE « WE L& # 2 F s
equipment, net 645 20
Adjustment on carrying amount of NSRRI ERE
payments for life insurance 543 -
Rental income from investment WEENHESWA
property 156 156
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use  #X |- FERE A EER
assets 135 33
Fair value gain on financial asset at BRAFEFAEBRCEMEEL
FVTPL N EKE 540 -
Gain on waiver of amount due to NeRN—RWB QIR ES R
a non-controlling interest of a g
subsidiary 1,205 -
Others H 1,423 2,984
6,009 4,064
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BAESELA
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHERx FAT
Interest on bank loans RITERFE 865 1,308
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 253 414
1,118 1,722
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #4&& B i8R R M sE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

N = =V PR o WA Sy =] )

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8. KRFAIER

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Profit before taxation has been arrived  BRF A& F Jh 0k (K% ) A N & IBE
at after charging (crediting): ER

Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEMEETE

equipment 5,658 5,663
Depreciation of investment property WEMERE 221 221
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 4,061 5,139

Allowance (reversal of allowance) for  JR{EE1E B (BB 1) (P 5E) -

impairment losses (Note):

— Trade receivables —Z 5 WA 785 (197)
— Contract assets —ERNEE 49 256
— Other receivables — HE b U R IE 648 647
Auditor's remuneration 2 Gl 700 750

Gross rental income from investment 2 E&E WAL U A

property (156) (156)
Less: direct operating expenses incurred & : StERNEER WA ZHEME
for investment property that EEZERCERSY
generated rental income during
the year 12 12
(144) (144)

Staff costs (including the remuneration & TN (B FEMT ORI TEA LA A
of the directors of the Company as EEHM)
disclosed as note 9):

— Salaries and allowances and —¥re MORERA R EYIBIEAT
discretionary bonus 96,834 88,902
— Retirement benefit scheme — RUKEFFT B X
contributions 2,691 2,918
— Share-based payments expenses — AR BER S 2 X 1,914 2,264
Total staff costs B TR AR 101,439 94,084
Donations SN 1,420 3,667
Note: Details of impairment assessment for the years ended 31 March PFE - B Z=2025F K2024F3A31H EFER
2025 and 2024 are set out in note 35. B IBE M EE35 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 8RR MiEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(R LI Z523-pA b Ll N St = Ty == )
(ERA= B it Y|+ ZHA,8 T80 )

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. %% - BEEITHAERESH

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments and chief executive’s

emoluments

Details of the emoluments paid to the directors and chief

executive of the Company are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

5T ¢

BZE2025F3831ALEE

Other emoluments

EEMERBESITTRAEME

XNFARARBEZREHTRAENME

HitE &
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
HEK BB
e HitE A FTEIHR #st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
Executive directors: HTES:
Dr. Ko SEL - 3,270 380 18 3,668
Ms. Cheung KT - 1,380 230 18 1,628
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit mEEEE ([ RhRE%
("Mr. CK Ko", son of 4] BELERLE
Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung) ZRF) 360 - - - 360
Independent non-executive BV IFHITEE :
directors:
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat REELAE 180 - - - 180
Ms. Tse Ka Wing HEALT 180 - - - 180
Mr. Ho Chi Shing AIEHEE 180 - - - 180
900 4,650 610 36 6,196
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4545 B i8R R B 5%

(Expressed in Hong Kong do//ars un/ess otherwise /nd/cated)

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. EE ESITHAERESH
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) cA¢ )
Directors’ emoluments and chief executive’s EEMERESTHRAEMES @
emoluments (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE2024F3A31HILFE
Other emoluments
e
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus  contributions
2R RIRRER
e H)28 WiETEA SR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT BT AT FET
Executive directors: HITEE:
Dr. Ko BEL - 4,260 380 18 4,658
Ms. Cheung Rzt - 1,380 230 18 1,628
Non-executive director: FHITES
Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit Bl st 3
("Mr. CK Ko", son of 4] SELERL:
Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung) ZRF) 360 - - - 360
Independent non-executive BV IFHITEE -
directors:
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat BREERE 180 - - - 180
Ms. Tse Ka Wing HEALT 180 - - - 180
Mr. Ho Chi Shing AEHLE 180 - - - 180
900 5,640 610 36 7,186
In addition to the employee benefits expenses presented BELEEREMNAZN  REETMES
above, the Group also provides other non-monetary benefits IRHEMIEEEEF(EE) - #1F2025F
(accommodation) to director. During the year ended 31 March 3A3MALLEFE - BHZEFEBENIAE
2025, depreciation of right-of-use assets in relation to these B {5 FA & & 7= 37 & /990,000 7T (2024
non-monetary benefits amounted to HK$990,000 (2024: £ :1,891,000/%7C) °
HK$1,891,000).
The emoluments of the above executive directors of the JE’Q\KEE C PR RBRITESOME Y
Company were paid for their services in connection with 0152 55 R B TR A SR B SR PSR (L AR 75 T 52
the management of the affairs of the Group whereas I - M LA R RIETE S MBI
the emoluments of the above non-executive director and fT%%ﬁw(ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁi%ngﬁmﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ
independent non-executive directors of the Company were UMM < JLoh - LMAREIH
paid for their services as directors of the Company during the ﬁ%;%ﬁ*&?%ﬁ?%l RETCA TR E
year. Besides, the above executive directors of the Company HEEENEARBEE -

are entitled to bonus payments which are determined with
reference to individual performance of the relevant directors.

SREEEZERERAT  2025FF3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 8RR MiEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

/N LI A= 23-pH G LA N SHe = B =)
(BRA Bt B75 + X ETTS1TN )

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments and chief executive’s
emoluments (continued)

Dr. Ko is also the chief executive officer of the Company (the
“Chief Executive”) and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as the Chief
Executive.

None of the directors of the Company nor the Chief Executive
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year
include 2 (2024: 2) directors of the Company, details of whose
emoluments are set out above. Details of the emoluments

BE  BRETHRAEREEM
CAC )
EEMERESTHAEM S @

SELTARRRERSTBRAER(&ET
BARD) M LA ABHR 2 MERERRER
EETRAHEHRE 2 MSE -

RWEFE  SEANRREERITHRAAE
MEXFERERTAME -

BEMS

RNEFE  REANAEESHMNATERE
2% (20244 1 2B )ANRRIEE - HESF
BEN L - T35 (2024F : 38) &=

of the remaining 3 (2024: 3) highest paid individuals are as FATHBES BT
follows:
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
Employees ==
— Salaries and allowances — ¥ NOERE 2,752 2,731
— Discretionary bonus (Note) —EBIEAL (MIRE) 410 761
— Share-based payment expenses — AR AER S A 2 X 238 251
— Retirement benefit scheme — R ET IR
contributions 54 54
3,454 3,797

Note: The discretionary bonus is determined by reference to
individual performance of the employees and approved by the
management of the Group.

The emoluments of the remaining highest paid employees
were within the following bands:

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

Mt BBEAL D2 EREMEARREEL
HASEEEELE -

#TImmHMEENMSBENT

2024
ploylik==

HK$'000
TAT

1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000/ 7T 3 2
1,500,001 #7C%2,000,000/8 7T - 1

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company, Chief Executive nor the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #4&& B i8R R M sE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong Profits Tax EBNER

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

o= e =V

10. FTSBIREX

2025 2024
20255

20244
HK$'000
T

HK$’000
TET

— Current year —REE 10,174 8,856

— Underprovision in previous years —BEFEREETR - 21

— Deferred tax (note 27) —RIERIA(MIFE27) (137) (496)
10,037 8,381

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity is taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million
is taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. The two-tiered profits tax
rates regime was applicable to Chit Tat Electrical Engineering
Limited (“Chit Tat”, a wholly-owned subsidiary) for current
and prior year. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of Chit
Tat is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million for current and prior
year.

RIEEBNEHMAT @ AEREETE
BH2H BB TR 5 FI128.25% B AN
18 MBE2E B TREFIE16.5% =R
BRTRIE - TRAFSHRAHER 2 &
EEE NGB EIR165% 2 H— TR
BNTRIE - RAFERBEFE - FIEHK
MARGERRNEERETRAR AT ([
E| —H2EKBRAR) - Bt FEX
FERBAFENTENSRZE2A
BB TR AT ERBURF1E8.25% Bl & -
AN 82 B 8 o r b st R BUE Fi%
16.5% % R BUANFH IR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 8RR MiEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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rr2 Z1 o=

IA/BTLY N )

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FRAEHB @
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the NAFEER PRGN AT ER S ER A
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit fth 2 E W E = NRIRTT AR A E R AT ¢

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$°000 HK$'000
FTAET TAT

Profit before taxation B A A 57,057 48,800

Tax charge at the applicable income tax %3 TSR % 16.5% (20244 :

rate at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%) 16.5% et HEVBIA S H 9,414 8,052
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A R FE S VTR S R 22

for tax purpose 800 855
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARTBMAMNRBZE

tax purpose (261) (131)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised K IERE LS E BV SR/ 2 269 157
Utilisation of taxes losses not previously B L BT AR R E1E

recognised - (145)
Tax effect of tax deductions for research #iff 2 37 & T8 0 RO B 745 7 22

and development expenditures (178) (220)
Underprovision in previous years BTFERETR - 21
Income tax at concessionary rate REBREGTENER (165) (180)
Others HAtb 158 (28)
Income tax expense for the year REFFFHFAX 10,037 8,381
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax RMEBR  AEEBARPHEMEFGIE
losses of approximately HK$5,792,000 (2024: HK$4,161,000) #95,792,000 7 JT ( 2024 F : 4,161,000
available for offset against future profits. Tax losses of BIT)  FIHEIEEARET - HIEEE
HK$3,299,000 (2024: HK$3,299,000) have been recognised as 3,299,000 7T (20244 : 3,299,000/% 7T, )
deferred tax assets. The remaining tax losses of HK$2,493,000 ERERREEHIEEE - BRARHEFK
(2024: HK$862,000) have not been recognised as deferred tax JRRAITERI - MRS TE BT 182,493,000
assets due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. All T0(20244F : 862,000/ 70 ) W R FER AR
losses may be carried forward indefinitely. JEMIAEAE - FIEERHAIERIEE -
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12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #4&& B i8R R M sE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

o= e =V

DIVIDENDS 1. BE

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Dividends for ordinary shareholders FARER AP IR F LB R
of the Company recognised as B
distribution during the year:
- 2024 final dividend: HK1.3 cents per  —20245RHAMLE  GA%1.3781L

share (2024: 2023 final dividend: (20244 : 2023FKRHAM 2. -
HK1.6 cents per share) FRZ1.65810) 10,541 12,800
—2025 interim dividend: HK0.6 cent ~ —2025F F HIIRE. : FA%0.678 1L
per share (2024: 2024 interim (20244F : 2024F P HARE B, -
dividend: HKO0.7 cent per share) FR%0.7740) 4,865 5,600
15,406 18,400
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend RMEBERE - ARAIESCDEZLE
of HK1.4 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year ended Z20253 A3 IEFEIRNRARES
31 March 2025, in an aggregate amount of HK$11,352,000 fREBAR AN - BESFER11,352,000
has been proposed by the directors of the Company and is T WERFARR AR A FE B AR B F K
subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company in the gL -
forthcoming annual general meeting.
EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. BREF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share KABEA AEBRGIRERLESEF T,
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the BB T8ETE

following data:

2025 2024
2025% 20245

HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TAT

Earnings for the purpose of basicand ~ AR ESREAREEEFH 2T
diluted earnings per share (profit for (RRBEE ANBIERFERN)
the year attributable to owners of the
Company) 46,253 40,792

BREEEZERERAT 20255F8HK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 8RR MiEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

N = e LAy IS SHe = B =)
(FFEAB LAY + A BTSN )

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

12. EREF @)

Number of
EIES
HEE
‘000 ‘000
TR Th%

Number of
shares

RO E

Weighted average number of ordinary — FARAFTE SRR E A2 FI 89 3% i AR hne

shares for the purpose of basic FHEE

earnings per share 801,082 800,001
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary R BIRITEIRAD R E £ EE

shares in respect of outstanding TEBRNEE

share awards of the Company 3,051 787
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FIRFHE GARES S Z M T T

shares for the purpose of diluted Bk

earnings per share 804,133 800,788

13. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

At 31 March 2025, the balance represents a project loan to
finance a construction project of a construction company
in Hong Kong. The loan bears interest equivalent to 4.8%
per annum and the principal and interest are repayable in
September 2025. Besides, the Group is also entitled to 52%
of the profit from the construction project, with a minimum
profit margin of 5% guaranteed by the construction company.

14. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTOCI

At the end of the reporting period, the listed equity securities
were stated at fair values which have been determined by
reference to closing prices quoted in the active markets.

The Directors have elected to designate the investment as
financial asset at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in the investment'’s fair value in profit
or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of
holding the investment for long-term purposes and realising
its performance potential in the long run.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #4&& B i8R R M sE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

/A T #=23-aH A / =
(PR H et

15. 1% - BERKRE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture, Motor
Land and Carpark Leasehold fixtures and vehicles
Building spaces improvements  equipment and yacht Total
HE HA£EB
THREF BB NREL REf  REREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR AT TR TR BT T
cosT RAE
At 1 April 2023 202341 53,900 4,427 3331 3824 1,282 66,764
Additions RE - - 823 199 12,000 13,022
Disposals & - - - - (275) (275)
At 31 March 2024 M202453A31R 53,900 4,421 4,154 4,023 13,007 79,511
Additions NE - - - 52 - 52
Disposals HE - - - - (1,000) (1,000)
Written off i - - (256) (1,608) - (1,864)
Transfer from right-of-use ~ EEHFRELE
asset - - - - 357 357
At 31 March 2025 F202563A31H 53,900 4,427 3,898 2,467 12,364 77,056
DEPRECIATION wE
At 1 April 2023 72202354 A1H 1,194 404 565 2,451 1,282 5,896
Provided for the year REFEE 2,048 160 1836 487 1,132 5,663
Eliminated upon disposals ~ HERF 434 - - - - (275) (275)
At 31 March 2024 12202443 A318 3,242 564 2,401 2,938 2,139 11,284
Provided for the year TEERAE 2,048 160 1,632 443 1,375 5,658
Eliminated upon disposals &% %4 - - - - (525) (525)
Eliminated on written off ~ #iSAFF 4144 - - (256) (1,608) - (1,864)
Transfer from right-of-use ~ EBEHERELE
asset - - - - 357 357
At 31 March 2025 722025434316 5,290 724 3,777 1,773 3,346 14,910
CARRYING VALUES fREE
At 31 March 2025 12202543 A31H 48,610 3,703 121 694 9,018 62,146
At 31 March 2024 FR202453A31H 50,658 3,863 1,753 1,085 10,868 68,227
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i $R R i

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(R L A5 27 AH AL

15.

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after
taking into account the residual values, are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Land and Building 3%

Carpark spaces 3%

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%-30%

Motor vehicles and yacht 10%-30%

The Group's a carpark space and an office premise are situated
in Hong Kong and are pledged to secure bank loans (note 24).

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The tenure of the Group’s lease arrangements for renting
carpark space, office premises, warehouses, accommodation
and motor vehicles is mainly from two to five years.

The lease arrangements for renting carpark space, office
premises and warehouses usually allow early termination for
the Group’s giving one-month prior notice after 12 months
from the commencement of the leases, otherwise, penalties,
equivalent to one-month lease payment, is necessary. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

In respect of the lease arrangements for renting motor
vehicles, the Group has options to purchase the motor vehicles
for nominal amounts at the end of the leases and there is no
early termination options.
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15.
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M - BERRE®

KRERFIREER - LWE - BERR
WABAREIZA T FRRITE -

T REF 3%
{FEAL 3%
HEMHEEE HEBRN
R - B RERE 20%-30%

YRE R B 10%-30%
AREEN—EAEBEUR—EARAEMELE
BE - WHEHRITEFERF(H:E24) -

EHAEEE

AEEMBESE  WAEWE AR
EERABNRERHFHEEARER
E'Eo
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BFRRAMASRENHERB12EA RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #4&& B i8R R M sE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group’'s right-of-use assets in respect of lease
arrangements for renting carpark space, office premises,
warehouses, accommodation and motor vehicles at the end of
reporting period are as follows:

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Vo= e = Y NI ey )
(FRFA B a3V I A/BICLN )

16. FHAEEEm@m
REBRREARBEAREENL - PIAE
WE - BE - - EFENMIENEELHMS
HFEREEENT :

Carpark Office Motor
space premises  Warehouses Accommodation vehicles Total
BEL  BOENE i ide1 RE ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TEL BT oy TAL ThEL
Asat3!March 2025  12025%3A31E
Carrying amount REE 20 879 1,838 - 1133 3,870
Asat31March2024  H202453A318
Carrying amount FaE 69 2,382 2,146 2,837 1,956 9,390
For the year ended H22025F3A8318
31 March 2025 HEEHEER
Depreciation charge 49 1,742 528 919 823 4,061
For the year ended HZ2024F3A8318
31 March 2024 HERENEER
Depreciation charge 80 1,032 1,282 1,891 854 5139

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets (mainly
motor vehicles) at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Other
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

During the year, the Group had total cash outflows for leases
amounting to HK$5,650,000 (2024: HK$5,115,000).

During the year, the Group had additions to right-of-use assets
amounting to HK$ 1,654,000 (2024: HK$4,586,000).

In addition, the Group’s lease liabilities of HK$4,047,000 (2024:
HK$12,440,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets
of HK$3,870,000 (2024: HK$9,390,000) as at 31 March 2025.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessors. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

AEE A B HETENE AR SIS ERE
HEEEMAR(ZERAE)NERES
EAFI B RESA A FRERSIER
E-HERAEEENEMA A EAFH
REBMUABREE RE)RERENE -

RAFE  AEERENQARSRLEA
5,650,000/ 7T (20244F :5,115,00077T) °

RAFE AEEBLFAEFAEELEE
1,654,000 7T (20244F :4,586,000/87T) °

b o - AN B 7 & A & 4,047,000 7% 7T
(20244 : 12,440,000 7T ) 38 [ 4R 3 3£ B
& 73,870,000 7T (20244F : 9,390,000
BIT)HR2025F3 A31 BEMR - BrE
AFFHEEEMNEREZRIN  HERH
PMEHEIEMRY - HEEETSAER
B MRS -
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 8RR MiEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

17. REWE

HK$'000
TAT

COST A
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025  #2023F4A1H * 2024F3HA31B X

2025438318 5,801

5,801

DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2023 M2023F4718 128
Provided for the year NG R 221
At 1 April 2024 M2024F4718 349
Provided for the year RAFERE 221
At 31 March 2025 202593 H31H 570
CARRYING VALUES SRMEIE
At 31 March 2025 202543 A31H 5,231
At 31 March 2024 1202453 H318 5,452

The above investment property is depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease.

The Group leases out a vehicle parking space under operating
lease with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for
an initial period of 2 years (2024: 2 years). The vehicle parking
space (2024: vehicle parking space) is pledged to secure bank
loans (note 24).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangement, as the lease is denominated in the
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contract do not contain residual value guarantee and/or
lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease
term.
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18.

19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise /ndlcated)

A poyal e —

INVESTMENT UNDER EQUITY METHOD 18. LR ZEZRENRE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Investment under equity method Mg A EiRE 4 -
The Group holds equity interest in NP Engineering Company $‘§I%ﬁLM%E\ FIZEMERTIERR
Limited, under equity method which is engaging in NEIEHE  ZARIRE BN EEFEESE
construction of buildings in Hong Kong. Particulars regarding 7% o BEIZINERNFHIBENMHIFE3S °

the investment is set out in note 38.

At 31 March 2025, the Group's investment under equity M2025F3 8318 » NEBUERAZE
method was not individually material to the Group. IR EYAREE S LAEKX o
PAYMENTS FOR LIFE INSURANCE 19. XNEkE

In November 2017, the Group paid premium for a life b”\2017¢11ﬂ AEBRBRRE (R
insurance policy (the “Insurance Policy”) to insure Ms. BNIMRE  UAXRFEFTRZIR
Cheung, a director of the Company. Under the Insurance Policy, IR o IRIBERE - Xm AMREZBBAENK
the beneficiary and policy holder is the Group. At inception £8 - ARERBE  AEE>WES
of the Insurance Policy, the Group paid a gross premium of 543,250,000 7T %2 1+ #81R % 6,500,000
HK$6,500,000 by two instalments of HK$3,250,000 each. The TC o ANEE PIBERF AR LR B - I AT PR IE
Group can terminate the Insurance Policy at any time and can AERBRENRPEAWKERIRES %R
receive cash at the date of termination based on the account PEETIRBREERRIEHET R
value of the Insurance Policy, which is determined as the gross BERZ(BFEIREEREFERIERE
premium paid with the accrued returns (as further details set RERIRER) (B ) HET Ok (E—F&F
out below) after netting of the charges (including a surrender FEHINT ) KB MHBRRE -

charge if the termination of the Insurance Policy is within the
first policy year), if any, in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Insurance Policy.

The Group shall receive returns (with guaranteed minimum AEEBRREFRBHAWEBER(AE
return at rates of 3.75%, 3% and 2% per annum for the first HREFE - F_AREFERFE=EF
policy year, second policy year and third to tenth policy years, T ER B8 F [ B0 4R 75 S 1K B & I & 5 5l
respectively) during the effective period of the Insurance Policy. 5375% 3% M2%) c RABEERE
The directors of the Company have intention to terminate RIFEHRZ12ME A RKIERE - BAILiZ
the Insurance Policy within 12 months after the end of the S ER2025F3 A3 1B EAREEE (R
reporting period and, therefore, the amount was classified as 20243 A3 AN ERIERBEE)

current asset as at 31 March 2025 (non-current asset as at 31
March 2024).

In April 2025, the Insurance Policy was terminated and the R2025F4 8 - REBEKIE - AR
Company has received the premium paid and investment WER & $#£7,729, OOO/ETEE’JE%M%%&&ﬁ
return with an aggregate amount of HK$7,729,000. [@¥R o

SREEEZERERAT  2025FF3R

125



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 8RR MiEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 20. EZRAMBRE - ZER

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS TR RIR

2025 2024

20254 20244F

HK$'000 HK$’000

F#ET FHIT

Trade receivables B 5 EUGRIA 108,765 71,026

Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEERE (1,219) (434)

107,546 70,592

Other receivables E b M skIE 3,997 5,930

Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEERE (2,590) (1,942)

1,407 3,988

Refundable rental deposits (Note i) REIMR SIS (M) 521 869
Amounts due from non-controlling FEU—FEIRT BB A R FEIE AR 2 5 IR

interests of a subsidiary (Note ii) (B 5Eii) 60 11

Amount due from a related party JE M — & sk 75 K (Bt &)

(Note iii) 750 -

Prepayments for purchase of materials BEEMRMNBNRERSBE

and subcontracting fees 9,008 7,170
Prepaid expenses AR 2,595 2,533
Utilities and other deposits PREEREMZS 277 716

122,164 85,879

Analysed as: ST

Current assets MENVE E 121,835 84,417

Non-current assets IEMBNVEE 329 1,462

122,164 85,879

Notes: Fi3E

() Included in the refundable rental deposits as at 31 March 2025 () 2025 3A31H  AIREHESEESE
were amounts of HK$45,000 (2024: HK$45,000), HK$20,000 ED R F&E+ Rk L 145,000
(2024: HK$20,000) paid to Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung respectively. JC (20244 = 45,0007 7T ) ~ 20,0007 7T
The other refundable rental deposits as at 31 March 2025 and (2024% : 20,0007 7T ) HIFIB © 722025
2024 were paid to independent landlords. FR2024F3 A3 1B EM A REIESIZ

SN TFEILEE -

(i) The amount is non-trade, unsecured, interest-free and (i) ZAEREBEHME EEHF RERIE
repayable on demand. DRIEE -

(iiy  The amount represents advances to a related party, which the (i) FAEAR—BEEHIRENR - AL
Group holds equity interest under equity method. The amount is B DARE 50 A TS A % s 77 O RRAE © %k 1E
non-trade, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. RIFEHINE - EER  RERIRERE

= .
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise /ndlcated)

A am 4 L IN) SHE = Ty ==

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 20. EZRHMEBWRIE - B2 K
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued) TR FRIE )

Trade receivables represent amounts receivable for work “”%fﬂﬁl%ﬂ@‘é‘?&“?ﬂﬁ%{%éﬁ?ﬁﬁ‘%ﬂﬁlﬂ’f?
certified after deduction of retention money. As at 1 April B ITIEFIE - RA2023F4H18 - AEEH
2023, the gross carrying amount of the Group's trade ‘f’f%ﬁ%mﬁ%@ﬁﬁ@ﬁ?%05,326,0005’%ﬁ
receivables was HK$105,326,000 and HK$631,000 allowance KEHRIEE BB #631,0008 T -

of credit losses was made.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the REMNEAHEPA - AEEGHE
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits for EFNEEEXTARNER E’\J%EI@E%@ °
customers. Recoverability of the amounts due from existing EUWIRABEFPFIENAINEMEEHAR
customers is reviewed by the directors of the Company EFTHRE - NEE K4 %E%}E7E
regularly. The Group allows generally a credit period of 7 to 90K (20244 : 7290K)MEEH] -

90 days (2024: 7 to 90 days) to its customers.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables of TXARWMERRRIBEEPMZEREE
the Group presented based on dates of work certified by B~ RIS RM Sk E b R A5 T2 A HA(Ea 8
architects, surveyors or other representatives appointed by the EHEEE) 2N AEEE 5 ENGRIERD

customers, that approximate to the invoice date at the end of ERER DA ©
the reporting period.

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
0 to 30 days 0ZF30K 52,029 39,957
31 to 90 days 31ZE90K 43,102 19,806
91 to 180 days 91E 180K 3,045 2,566
Above 180 days 180K L 10,589 8,697
108,765 71,026
Less: Allowance of credit losses W EEEERE (1,219) (434)
107,546 70,592
As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s trade receivables M2025F3A31H - AEEE HEWN
balances are debtors with aggregate gross carrying amount of TEA B E AR £ % 13,634,000 7T
HK$13,634,000 (2024: HK$11,263,000) which are past due (2024¢ © 11,263,000/ 7T ) 2 FE U GRIA -
90 days or more as at the reporting date and is not considered ZERIENRE BB @EA00XRKIA B
as in default because these customers are in the process of T%&ﬁ?%LZ’J RAREBEEF ET#ETT
internal settlement procedures that the management of the ANREERF AEEEEEC R
Group has acknowledged and approved the extended credit HEEREER -
period.
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other B REMBEWFIE - AREHESES
receivables, refundable rental deposits, amount due from a FE W — % B 5 s IB R EN — M E A A
related party and amounts due from non-controlling interests FEE IR B FIE AR E ST TR S M EE
of a subsidiary are set out in note 35. 35 o

SREEEZERERAT  2025FF3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 8RR MiEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The carrying amounts of the Group’s contract assets as at 1
April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 amounting
to HK$258,488,000, HK$242,049,000 and HK$262,311,000
respectively, represent the Group’s rights to considerations
from customers for the provision of E&M engineering
services, which arise when: (i) the Group completed the
relevant services under such contracts but not yet certified
by architects, surveyors or other representatives appointed
by the customers; and (ii) the customers withheld certain
certified amounts payable to the Group as retention money (i.e.
retention receivables) to secure the due performance of the
contracts.

The Group's contract assets are analysed as follows:

21.

BHEERARE

72023F4 818 - 202453 A31H %2025
F3A318 > AEESPNEENKREED
71| %258,488,00078 7T * 242,049,000/% 7T
262,311,000 7T - FEARSE IR EHE
TREEmEEZEFREREOER  Z%
BEFRATERELE : VAEEREZS
AH KRR E N AEEEAEZ TN
FEEEEM - RIERMk EARERRER - K
BEPRBEMNTAEENE TZERIEE
ARES(NERRESR) UERZ AR
184 -

REBNENEESNWT

2025 2024

20255 20244

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTET T

Provision of E&M engineering services BIRREEE 264,311 244,000
Less: Allowance of credit losses B EEEERE (2,000) (1,951)
262,311 242,049

The retention receivables included in contract assets are to be
settled at the end of the reporting period as follows:

AHBEERNNEWRE S G RERRE
=R (I N

2024

20244

HK$'000

FHBT

Within one year —&FR 62,087 59,281
After one year —Fi% 33,570 39,090
95,657 98,371
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (334) (844)
95,323 97,527

The increases in contract assets during the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024 were mainly due to changes in the size
of contract works that the relevant services were completed
but yet been certified by architects, surveyors or other
representatives appointed by the customers at the end of the
reporting periods.
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21.

22.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(continued)

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set out
in note 35.

Contract liabilities as at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 31
March 2025 amounting to HK$16,332,000, HK$6,791,000
and HK$14,806,000 represent the Group’s obligation to
transfer of E&M engineering services to customers for which
the Group has received advance payments from the customers.

Contract liabilities as at 1 April 2023 and 2024 have been
recognised as revenue for the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2025 respectively.

The increase in contract liabilities during the year ended 31
March 2025 (2024: decrease) is mainly due to advances by
customers for certain new projects at initial stage at the end
of the reporting period (2024 contract liabilities in prior year
recognised as revenue during the year for the ongoing and
completed projects).

PLEDGED BANK BALANCES, CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's pledged bank balances
were fixed deposits with banks that carried interest at fixed
rates ranging from 0.25% to 3.22% per annum (2024: fixed
rates at 3.8% per annum) and were secured for the banking
facilities granted (2024: performance bonds) to the Group by
the banks. Further details are set out in note 29.

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short
term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short
term cash commitments. Included in the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents as at 31 March 2025 was fixed deposits with
banks with original maturity less than three months amounting
to HK$37,005,000 (2024: HK$15,138,000) which carried
interest at fixed rates ranging from 2.9% to 3.32% per annum
(2024: ranging from 3.8% to 4.3% per annum). The other
bank balances carried interest at prevailing market interest rate
at 0.25% (2024: 0.75%) as at 31 March 2025.

Details of the impairment assessment of pledged bank
balances and bank balances are set out in note 35.

21.

22.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A 0 23, L In] S

EHEERBE@®

BREEMNREFAFBHNHIESS °

202354818 - 202443 A31H %2025
FIANHMEHNEEDFIAR16,332,000
I~ 6,791,000/ 7T & 14,806,000/ 7T -
EAEBRBMETEREEZETAERLD
HEPUMBEBMNFENEE ZEE -

R2023F N2024F4AA1BEHEEE D
BIRE E2024F 22025F3 A31HIEFE
R AWK -

HE2025F3A31HEFENEHEEE
(20244 - BA)DEEBHRMEHAR
ETHEERVEREREEFPMER
(2024%F - FI—FENANEBERATE
R AEITT RETKIE B HRE)

CEMRTES RERRE

20253 A31H » REEMSEKFIEIT
EHRABRTETEFN  RETFFEN
F0.25% E3.22% (20244 : B FEF A=K
3.8%)FT B E BLIRTT R A S B FTER A
IRITRYE (2024%F : BHRE ) IERM -
HE— R IBE NI EE29 ©

ReERBESEEYRIETHERIEHT
B EFAAEBEHBESKE - B
2025F3A31H  AEENR e MEeE
EBYBRE—EFHRNRITRERBHA DR
—AAMEEFHR  £%A&37,0050007%
70 (20244 : 15,138,000/8 7T ) © HIREF
FHMENTF29%E3.32%:1 8 (20244 ¢
FRENF38%E43%) o HN20254F3
A318 » HMRTEBRIRRITMEFE
0.25%(20244F : 0.75%)FT 8. °

DIRIRRTT 4 0 R IR TS SR RO BB R A 5
EHAMIFESS ©

BREEEZERERAT 20255F8HK
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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23. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES AND

23. B5E{TARER RES A

130

ACCRUALS KREETE R
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
Trade payables 2 S ERHIA 50,388 29,403
Retention payables FERRER 19,828 15,200

Amount due to a non-controlling FERT—ZKBT B A R SRR AR = R

interest of a subsidiary 4 940
Accruals fEETE A 12,623 13,140
82,843 58,683

Included in the Group's trade and retention payables as at 31
March 2025 are amounts due to related parties amounting
to HK$11,787,000 (2024: HK$6,895,000), in aggregate,
which are trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable
according to the relevant agreements. The amount due
to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary is non-trade,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables of the
Group based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period:

7R2025F3A31H » ZEEE FER A
MEMRESBEEMEEHREA X
11,787,000 % JT ( 2024 F : 6,895,000 /&
L) REREEESMHE - EER £
BREREBHRBIREERER - BN —RHB
NAPEERESZIARIEE S HE - BIK
- B RIEEREE -

AT RRmEHRAEEE 5 RN TR
LR EBNREDN

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$’'000

FHT T

0 to 30 days 0&E30% 34,050 18,128
31 to 90 days 31E90K 13,364 10,220
Over 180 days 180 KA E 2,974 1,055
50,388 29,403

The credit period of trade payables granted by the Group’s
suppliers are usually within 30 days (2024: 30 days).
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23.

24,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #4&& B i8R R M sE

TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS (continued)

The Group usually retains 4% to 8% of each interim payment
to its subcontractors providing services to the Group as
retention payables. According to the relevant contracts
with these subcontractors, 50% of the retention payables is
usually released upon handing over of the residential units
to respective owners by the developers for residential units
projects and completion of services under contracts for other
projects, with the remaining 50% of the retention payables
to be released after six months of the first payment of the
retention payables. The retention payables of the Group are to
be settled at the end of the reporting period as follows:

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

o= e =V

23. ESEAREAREARE SN
RESTE A
AEBBRERAAAEEREREND B
REGEPHNABLI% E8%EAES
REE - BEBEHEZSESRENMEBEL
50% R EMNRES RSN EEEMIER %
EEEEENR M FIERANRTRE
I8 B & HRIRFGEEE - Mk F50%R)FE
HREEBERE NI N EMNRE S E
A15338 - RBREPRAEBEMNRE S
HEEEIT :

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Within six months ~EAR 1,977 710
Within a period of more than six NE A A EEA N ER—FEN

months but not exceeding one year 2,703 5,894
More than one year —F LAk 15,148 8,596
19,828 15,200

BANK LOANS 24. RITER
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Bank loans, secured and guaranteed SRTER . B REER 26,635 23,594

SEEBEZERBRAT 2025FF3H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i $R R i

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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24. BANK LOANS (continued) 24. SR1TER @)

The carrying amounts of the above
bank loans that contain a repayable

b EAREREE
FEEMRRBEEETIR)EZE

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT

ZRITERK

on demand clause (shown under B :

current liabilities) but repayable:
Within one year —FR 6,468 1,934
Within a period of more than one year —%F A HENBIBRFER

but not exceeding two years 1,504 1,413
Within a period of more than two years R A HENBBAFHR

but not exceeding five years 4,733 6,100
More than five years AFE 13,930 14,147

26,635 23,594

The Group’s bank loans as at 31 March 2025 were lent by a
bank under its bank facilities granted to the Group. The bank
facilities were guaranteed by the corporate guarantee given by
the Company (2024: guaranteed by the corporate guarantee
given by the Company). In addition, the secured bank loans
were secured by the Group’s two carpark spaces and an office
premise (2024: two carpark spaces and an office premise).

Notwithstanding the provisions stated in the aforesaid
bank facilities, the bank may at any time without prior
notice, modify, cancel or suspend the banking facilities,
at the sole discretion of such bank; including, without
limitation, cancelling any unutilised facilities and declaring
any outstanding amount to be immediately due and payable.
Accordingly, the above bank loans were classified as current
liabilities as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Included in the bank loans as at 31 March 2025 were bank
loans of HK$21,635,000 (2024: HK$23,594,000), which
bore variable interest rate at 2.85% per annum below Hong
Kong Prime Rate quoted by the relevant bank (2024: variable
interest rate from 2.75% to 2.85% per annum below Hong
Kong Prime Rate quoted by the relevant bank). The remaining
bank loans of HK$5,000,000 (2024: nil) bore variable interest
rate at 1.75% per annum above one-month Hong Kong Inter-
bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #4&& B i8R R M sE

LEASE LIABILITIES

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(A LI A 23-aA 4N 4 1 751 7<)
(B2 BN » A ETITR)

25. HEEE

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT T

Non-current IERED 1,654 5,250
Current mE 2,393 7,190
4,047 12,440

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000

FBTT

HK$’000
TET

Lease liabilities payable: ENfHEEE
— Within one year ——FR 2,393 7,190
— Within a period of more than one ——F A BB E IR
year but not exceeding two years 1,654 4,242
— Within a period of more than two —MFA BT BBRFERN
years but not exceeding five years - 1,008
4,047 12,440

The Group does not expose to a significant liquidity risk with
regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored
within the Group's treasury function.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities was 3.59% (2024: 3.33%).

AEEYEmMEEBERERBENENR
BECAR - HERBERARENT ER

EAREE A EMINE TS ERFE
/£3.59% (20244 : 3.33%) °

SEREEZERERLT 2025FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 454 Bf 35 3R 3R Bff 5%
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(b5 E7FBES) - LB TTST)
26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. [RA
Details of share capital of the Company are as follows: RAFIRARZFFHEWT -

Number of

MEICS HK$'000

B8R T

Ordinary shares with par value of FIREEC.01B LA T @A
HK$0.01 each:
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and #2023F4H1H + 2024F3H31H

31 March 2025 §2025%3H31H 10,000,000,000 100,000

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: B %77 REUE L@

As at 1 April 2023 M2023F4H18 800,000,000 8,000
Issue of ordinary shares (note 28) BTEmAR(MFE28) 10,827,000 108
As at 31 March 2024 and R2024F3A318 &

31 March 2025 2025%3H31H 810,827,000 8,108

27. DEFERRED TAXATION 27. EERHIE

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement BRGETBRARFELEY]  ATE
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities ERMIBEENBED THEE - LT ARE
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred THERRE MMIERRREHRIBLES O

tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TH&IT

Deferred tax assets TR IBE &= 1,075 938
Deferred tax liabilities FEREFRIBEE (79) (79)
996 859
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27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #4&& B i8R R M sE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

The following is the deferred tax asset (liabilities) recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

e =]

27. EEFE @)

i m ok ey 2
BitBHIh - HLGET

AT BAFERBEFECERAETER

REE(RB) MEAES :

Accelerated

tax ECL
Tax losses depreciation provision Total
RHEE
RERE MEHRBERE EiaRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET THETT THETT
At 1 April 2022 and 20225418 R
31 March 2023 202393 H31H - - 363 363
Credit (charge) to profit 5T A (IR B ) B
or loss (note 10) (Ff=E10) 544 (79) 31 496
At 31 March 2024 202443 H31H 544 (79) 394 859
Credit to profit or T AE=(MEE0)
loss (note 10) - - 137 137
At 31 March 2025 202553 HA31H 544 (79) 531 996
SEEEZERERAR 202555
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i $R R i

(Expressed in Hong Kong do//ars unless otherwise indicated)

A NN
\ 77 737
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28. SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND SHARE

OPTION SCHEME
Share Award Scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “2023 Share
Award Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution
passed on 15 September 2023 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives, retaining and rewarding the eligible
employees. The 2023 Share Award Scheme is valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing from 15
September 2023. There is no performance target attached to
the awarded shares and vesting will take place on 31 March of
each year beginning in 2024 and ending in 2033 and shall be
vested in 10 equal tranches. On 28 March 2024, the Company
allotted and issued 10,827,000 new shares to the trustee to
hold on trust.

Outstanding at 1 April 2023

28. R REIETEIRBRAERT S

% 15 52 B 5T &l
$@ﬂ%%%%ﬁawm3¢ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
sH&l 1) J5iRE2023F9 A 15HBIBA —
ﬁ%%ﬁﬁva%H%EhMﬂﬁ
BREBFTAEKET - 2023F K 1H
HE)FTEIH2023F9 15 HEAW » AN
HA10F - BERD THBEEEZ -
SREE 2024 F 2 E2033F LM EF3
HA31H#7T - ED B10F MR T ° 2024
F3[288 * AAFAIXFEARLE RET
10,827,000/ 5% 15 LAE5EFF A ©

Number of

shares

R BE

R2023F4A1BKREE -

Granted during the year FRFRH 10,827,000
Vested during the year FRFB (1,082,700)
Outstanding at 31 March 2024 M2024563 A31BREE 9,744,300
Vested during the year FRFREB (1,025,910)
Lapsed during the year FRLK (699,600)
Outstanding at 31 March 2025 MR202543A31BKEE 8,018,790

The closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant is HK$1.05 per share. The estimate fair value of the
awarded shares granted during the year ended 31 March
2024 was approximately HK$9,282,000. The fair value is
measured based on the grant-date price with the adjustment
of ex-dividend discounted at the appropriate risk-free interest
rate during the requisite service period. Out of the aggregate
10,827,000 awarded shares, 2,022,000 awarded shares are
granted to five employees who are also the connected persons
of Group. Amounts of share-based payment expenses of
HK$1,914,000 (2024: HK$2,264,000) for share awards of the
Company have been recognised in the profit or loss during the
year ended 31 March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND SHARE
OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 18 September 2019,
the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme is valid and
effective for a period commencing from 18 September 2019
and ending on the tenth anniversary of the date of listing
of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange on 18
October 2019. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is
to provide an incentive or reward for the grantees for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the board of directors of the
Company may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe for
ordinary shares of the Company to any full-time or part-time
employees, consultants or potential employees, consultants,
executives or officers (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and any suppliers, customers, consultants,
agents, advisers who, in the sole opinion of the board of
directors of the Company, has contributed or will contribute to
the Group and whom the board of directors of the Company
may in its absolute discretion select and subject to such
conditions as it may think fit.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by the Group shall not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the ordinary share capital of the Company in
issue from time to time. The total number of ordinary shares of
the Company which may be allotted and issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the ordinary shares in issue as
at the date of passing of the relevant resolution adopting the
Share Option Scheme. Share options granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or
to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive directors of the Company.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any time and
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company's ordinary shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5,000,000, within any twelve-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

28.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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28. SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND SHARE

OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Share Option Scheme (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
14 days after the date of the offer, upon the Company
received the duplicate offer document comprising acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee together with
the consideration of HK$1.00. The exercise period of the
share options granted is determined by the directors of the
Company, save that such period shall not be more than ten
years from the date of the offer of the share options, subject
to the provisions for early termination as set out in the Share
Option Scheme.

Unless otherwise determined by the board of directors of the
Company at its absolute discretion, there is no requirement of
a minimum period for which an option must be held before an
option can be exercised. In addition, there is no performance
target which must be achieved before any of the options can
be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determined by the
board of directors of the Company, but in any event shall
be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the ordinary
shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets on the date of the offer of the share
options, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
price of the ordinary shares of the company as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s ordinary shares.

No option was granted, exercised, nor cancelled under the
Share Option Scheme since its effective date on 18 September
2019 and there was no outstanding share option as at 31
March 2025 and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEES

As at 31 March 2025, performance bonds of HK$96,486,000
(2024: HK$94,428,000) were given by banks in favour of the
Group's customers as security for the due performance and
observance of the Group’s obligations under the contracts
entered into between the Group and its customers. If
the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to its
customers to whom performance guarantees have been
given, such customers may demand the banks to pay to them
the sum or sum stipulated in such demand. The Group will
become liable to compensate such banks accordingly. The
performance guarantees will be released upon completion of
the E&M engineering services.

Included in the performance bonds as at 31 March 2025 were
HK$15,296,000 (2024: HK$367,000), which were issued
under the bank facilities granted by a bank to the Group and
such bank facilities were secured by corporate guarantee given
by the Company in favour of the bank (2024: the Group’s
pledged bank balances and corporate guarantee given by the
Company in favour of the bank). The remaining performance
bonds as at 31 March 2025 were issued under the bank
facilities granted by banks to the Group and such bank
facilities were secured by the Group’s two carpark spaces, an
office premise and corporate guarantee given by the Company
(2024: two carpark spaces, an office premise and corporate
guarantee given by the Company) in favour of the banks.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 30. MEEHAMELAEEBNEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRHFMAESEREZDAEEEENE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- B BRERESNERSEE - BLEEEM
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are EXEERACRIENAEEGERENE
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, KOBRMEGEMARESAENESN
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows SHARRRERE °

as cash flows used in financing activities.

Amount due
to a non-
controlling
Interest Lease Bank Dividend interest of
payable liabilities loans payable  asubsidiary
Ef—%
MBAH
FER
FEHRFIE HE8E BTER RS BR3E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL BT TATL ThL THr
At1 Apil 2023 R202354818 - 12,875 47,550 - - 60,425
Cash changes: By
Interest paid BAFIE (1,308) (414) - - - (1.722)
Repayments of bank loans BRETER - - (33,956) - - (33,956)
Repayments of lease liabilities  BERER(E - (4,701) - - - (4,701)
New bank loan raised HEERTET - - 10,000 - - 10,000
Dividend paid ERRE - - - (18,400) - (18,400)
Advances from non-controlling 7% & —F B A ]

interest of a subsidiary FIRRERDN - - - - 940 940
Non-cash changes: HE2 2
Finance costs recognised BRI A 1,308 414 - - - 1722
Additions of lease contracts ~ SEFEEA4(HF31)

(note 31) - 4,586 - - - 4,586

Early termination of lease RAK RS - (320) - - - (320)
Dividend declared (note 1) EERKE (M11) - - - 18,400 - 18,400
At 31 March 2024 1R2024%3A31H - 12,440 23,59 - 940 36,974
Cash changes: Hiig):
Interest paid G (865) (253) - - - (1,118)
Repayments of bank loans BEBTEN - - (18,959) - - (18,959)
Repayments of lease liabilities  BEHEA(E - (5.397) - - - (5397)
New bank loan raised HEERITERN - - 22,000 - - 22,000
Dividend paid ENRE - - - (15,406) - (15,406)
Repayment to non-controlling ~ BE—FHEAF

interest of a subsidiary RS - - - - (936) (936)
Non-cash changes: HEEEE
Finance costs recognised ERERMBARA 865 253 - - - 1,118
Additions of lease contracts ~ EREE AL (HFE31)

(note 31) - 1,654 - - - 1,654
Early termination of lease RAnERE(E31)

(note 31) - (4,650) - - - (4,650)
Dividend declared (note 1) EERRE(E11) - - - 15,406 - 15,406
At 31 March 2025 72025%3A31H - 4,047 26,635 - 4 30,686
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

TN

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 31. TEHFRERS
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group entered HE2025F3A31HIEFE - AEEF]
into rental agreements that increases its right-of-use assets VA mE FECAREEREES
and lease liabilities by HK$1,654,000 (2024: HK$4,586,000) & 9 Bl 1 401,654,000 7% JT ( 2024 F -
and HK$ 1,654,000 (2024: HK$4,586,000) respectively. 4,586,0007% 7T ) K& 1,654,000 7% 7T (2024
% : 4,586,000/ 7T) °
During the year ended 31 March 2025, there was an early HZE2025F3A31BIEFERANKIR
termination of lease, which decreases its right-of-use assets g FHEAREEREERE IR
and lease liabilities of HK$4,515,000 and HK$4,650,000 4,515,000/ 7T 5. 4,650,000/ 7T ° E It -
respectively. Accordingly, the relevant finance lease of FERARYETAE 1,512,000 TLE AL LE ©
HK$1,512,000 was terminated.
RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 32. RIARERIFE
The Group has joined the MPF Scheme which is registered REBEB MARE RS RTES G ENED
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority under ERHMEATEEEERELNARERS
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets gl - RESFENEEBUNAEENE
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the B DEBUZFEAEHOESITES - B
Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee. BaEeTsNRA - BEEREEYEAS
Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and the B RIET AL R AT SR - NEE
employees are each required to make contributions to the EABRESENEEETARIEAEIE
scheme at the rates specified in the rules. The only obligation AR MR - RIBRESHE - 1788
of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the ETER W K] AR AN SR B B 14 fE
required contributions under the scheme. Under the MPF TR -

Scheme, there will not be any forfeited contribution available
to reduce the contribution payable by the Group.

The Group's retirement benefit scheme contributions arising W EESFTEL - AEBERE B E ST I MIED
from the MPF Scheme charged to profit or loss as set out in FERNEANGFT SR B BRET NG - BE
note 8 represent contributions payable to the funds by the RAEBEIZFEFRAFTANL R E SR
Group at the rates specified in the rules of the scheme. RIEHEER o

BREEEZERERAT 20255F8HK
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BB ARG
(@) Other than the transactions and balances with related (a) BHEAMBREREMIDIRENLERY
parties disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial BT IR 5 RAERRIN - AEERER
statements, the Group had the following transactions ERREES M E A (F & BB FT
with related parties as well as connected person (defined BHELEMHAADFTEUTRS :

in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange) during the year:

2025
20255

HK$°000
TRT

(1) Subcontracting charges and others paid to ~ [FI3RE /2 RITIEAE(—FE

Shun Tat Air Conditioning Engineering
Company, a company controlled by a

B LR T
ENDR)NDBE

grandson of the uncle of Dr. Ko Ko EA 4,404 3,142
(2)  Subcontracting charges paid to Yuk Shing ~ [FIJEFE &5 TIZA A
Advertising & Decoration Engineering (—HEZmELzRL/
Co., a company controlled by a brother of ~ Z¥EHIE AT A D
Dr. Ko (k= 2,196 2,052
(3)  Purchases of construction materials from mENEEERAF(—H
Mibuka Denki Electrical Controls Limited, S &iEiEHI0AHE)
a company controlled by Dr. Ko EEREME 72 344
(4)  Purchases of construction materials and FEHEAESBRAA
others from Chit Shing Air Conditioning (—AX BTN
Trading Limited, a company controlled by~ HFiRHIH D E)EE
a grandson of the uncle of Dr. Ko EREEMR R ELA, 31,681 34,086
(5) (a)  Staff costs paid to employees who are (a) ~ [ESBEREE
Mr. Ko Chun Hei Rand, son of Dr. Ko (BEtERLL
and Ms. Cheung, a niece of Dr. Ko ZR%F) mET
and a brother, a brother-in-law, a HE L R R T H
nephew and nieces of Ms. Cheung nE AR EFR
BRI 3,573 3,753
(b)  Share-based payments to these b) WZEEREELHMN
employees R AEFRE R 358 423
(6)  Amounts paid to Milan Development RATEREABERER
Limited, a company wholly-owned by AR(—HHEZL2E
Ms. Cheung (Note i) %;fﬁ’ﬂ)’&ﬂ)iﬁ%ﬁﬁ
15T
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities -~ HEBECFEHE 10 10
— Lease liabilities —HERE 350 185
(7)  Amounts paid to Dr. Ko (Note ii) Fﬂﬁ%@i)ﬁiﬁ@%ﬁ
I
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities ~-HESBEFERL 18 25
— Lease liabilities -HEaE 250 243
(8)  Amounts paid to Ms. Cheung (Note iii) ﬁﬂ?l?_?tii)?ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
It
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities -HEERZHERY 8 11
— Lease liabilities M58k 1M 108
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(continued)

The above transactions were conducted in accordance
with the terms of the relevant agreements.

Notes:

@)

(i)

(iii)

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets was HK$160,000 (2024:
HK$510,000) and the carrying amount of the lease
liabilities was HK$163,000 (2024: HK$514,000).

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets was HK$441,000 (2024:
HK$693,000) and the carrying amount of the lease
liabilities was HK$456,000 (2024: HK$706,000).

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets was HK$196,000 (2024:
HK$308,000) and the carrying amount of the lease
liabilities was HK$203,000 (2024: HK$314,000).

Compensation of key management
personnel

Compensation of key management personnel represents
the remuneration of the directors of the Company and

AR B A5 #RaR B AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(A LI A 23-aA 4N 4 1 751 7<)
(FFABEEHAY) + A BTSN )

33. BEEAERSZ @m0

(a)

(b)

(&)

3R 5 THAR I AR A 15h ik A MR R

K
Bk
()

(i)

(iii)

M2025%3A31H @ HHEFEREE
E 7 BRI {E A160,00078 7T (2024
& 510,000 ) AREEEEZ
8 T8 {8 /5 163,00078 7T (2024 FF -
514,000/ 7T) °

M2025%3HA318 - HHEFEAESL
E 7 BRI {E A441,00058 7T (2024
1 693,000/ ) LANFHEEEZ
85 T {8 /5 456,000 7T (2024 4F :
706,000 7T) °

M2025%3A318 - HEEFEHAES
E 7 BRI {E 4 196,00078 7T (2024
1 308,000 C) LA NTHEEEZ
BF 1 18 /5 203,000 7T (2024 4F :
314,000/ 7T) °

TEEEASHMH

ITREEABHFIEARNFEARAE
ERAEERREREOFHH - 0T

senior management of the Group during the year were as PR
follows:
2025 2024
2025F 20244
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Short-term benefits ySREEREN 8,422 9,742
Post-employment benefits B2 BT 90 90
Share-based payments expenses VARR A BRI 2 F 2 238 251
8,750 10,083
SREEZERERAT 2025FFH
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group entities
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

34.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes bank loans and lease liabilities disclosed in notes
24 and 25 respectively, net of pledged bank balances, bank
balances and cash disclosed in note 22, and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
share premium, other reserve and retained profits.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the management of the
Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated
with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, issuance of new
shares and the raise of borrowings or repayment of existing
debts.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

35. 35.

Financial assets
Financial asset mandatorily measured

EXEBER
AEBEEEREERNUABRREE TN
BRE REEBRLERRRAFE -
RAEBRRES - AREBBEFENE
BREEFTE -

AEBNERNGREBEFES (2D
R E24 K25 WBEMRTERLBER
&) - KR EMRITER - RITHEHRL
He (W22 R ER ) U R AR BIHA A
fEiGEm (BREBITERA - RiRE - X
fibfeti b R AR B & F)

AEBBAS B PMEFSNIE I E AR

):'_Eo

AEBEEEETERRT ERGE - ERIL
WA —ED AREEEESERED
AR R SEEAMEARRR o AEER SRS
AR BT REBEERHEE
REBHTOEBRELRRE -

ERMTH
BT AER

2025
20255

2024
20244
HK$'000
FBT

HK$"000
FET

BHMEA N HEF ARSI EZ

at FVTPL MEE 5,540 5,000
Financial asset voluntarily measured BRI A TEST AR M E IR
at FVTOCI ENEHEE 5,957 -
Financial assets at amortised cost REIER AT R S mMEE 222,681 176,754
Financial liabilities Ea =L
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEIER AT RN S masE 96,855 69,137
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, refundable rental deposits, amounts
due from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, finance
lease receivable, amount due from a related party,
pledged bank balances, bank balances and cash, trade
and retention payables, amount due to a non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary and bank loans. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and lease
liabilities and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management of the Group manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

The Group’s operations expose it to a number of financial
risks: principally the interest rate risk, the credit risk and the
liquidity risk. Continuous monitoring of these risks ensures
that the Group is protected against any adverse effects of such
risks so far as it is possible and foreseeable.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances and bank loans (see notes 22
and 24, respectively, for details of these balances). Fixed bank
deposits at fixed interest rate exposed the Group of fair value
interest rate risk. The Group does not have a policy on cash
flow hedges of interest rate risk. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should need arise.

A sensitivity analysis is not presented because, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, reasonably possible change
in interest rate would not result in significant impact to the
post-tax profit of the Group.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to trade and other receivables,
refundable rental deposits, amounts due from non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries, finance lease receivable, contract
assets, amount due from a related party, pledged bank
balances and bank balances. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets and contract assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of the
Company have delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debtors. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade receivables
and contract assets. The management of the Group performs
impairment assessment on individual debtor basis to estimate
the amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets based on internal credit ratings and calculated ECL rates
with adjustment for forward-looking information which are
estimated based on external sources of data.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R Ffi 5%

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers (continued)

Allowance of impairment loss under ECL model of
HK$1,219,000 (2024: HK$434,000) and HK$2,000,000
(2024: HK$1,951,000) are recognised for the Group's
trade receivables and contract assets, respectively, as at 31
March 2025 and impairment losses of HK$785,000 (2024:
HK$197,000) and HK$49,000 (2024: HK$256,000) in respect
of trade receivables and contract assets were recognised
for the year ended 31 March 2025. Average loss rates
for the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets are
approximately 1.1% (2024: 0.6%) and 0.8% (2024: 0.9%),
respectively as at 31 March 2025. Details of the quantitative
disclosure are set out below in this note.

Finance lease receivable, other receivables, refundable
rental deposits, amounts due from non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries and amount due from a related
party

The management of the Group performs impairment
assessment on individual debtor basis to estimate the
amount of ECL of finance lease receivable, other receivables,
refundable rental deposits, amounts due from non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries and amount due from a related party
based on internal credit ratings, ageing, repayment history
and/or past due status of respective counterparties and
forward-looking information. As at 31 March 2025, except for
the other receivables of HK$2,590,000 (2024: HK$2,590,000)
which is credit-impaired, there has been no significant increase
in credit risks of the Group’s finance lease receivable, other
receivables, refundable rental deposits, amounts due from
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries and amount due from
a related party. An impairment loss of HK$648,000 (2024:
HK$647,000) was recognised during the year. As at 31 March
2025, an allowance for impairment losses of HK$2,590,000
(2024: HK$1,942,000) on other receivables was recognised.

Pledged bank balances and bank balances

The management of the Group assesses that the Group’s
pledged bank balances and bank balances are at low credit
risk and no impairment was recognised as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 and for the years then ended because they are
placed with reputable banks with good external credit ratings,
and ECL, if any, is insignificant.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

For assessment of the ECL of the Group’s financial assets
and contract assets, the Group's internal credit risk grading

assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit

rating
R
fEETR

Description

i

Level 1 The counterparty is listed entity with great ability
of repayment, low risk of default and has no
history of impairment loss.

HFEHRERRNRT BHRREERRE
BB FTER -

F—&

Level 2 The counterparty has good ability of repayment,
which may be influenced by macro
environment and economic situation.

BFHERENRI - AR EBRIREREH
AR E -

FM

Level 3 The counterparty has ability of repayment but

usually settles in full after due date.
HFHAEERED  BRTHRIBBERBERE

B o
Eanl

B=M

Level 4 The counterparty may not have ability of
repayment, and is evidenced to be credit-
impaired.

HFHAaL EEEE N
[= B o

ERULES - BRABEERE

Level 5 The counterparty has no ability to repay its
debts and the receivable is not expected to be
collectable.

WFHWEEREIEE N - BEN AT E U
SRIH ©

BRR
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AHEARENEREERSNEENT
HEEERMNS  ASRENARBEERR

AR EBYE A TR

Trade receivables
and contract assets
BESEWRER
BHEE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired

EHBEREEER -1E
EERE

Lifetime ECL - not credit-
impaired

ZHEHREEEE - ITE
EERE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired

ZHEHEEEE - 1TE
EERE

Lifetime ECL - credit-
impaired

EHEMEEEE-CE
BRME

Amount is written off

SECMH

Other financial assets

HitEMEE

12m ECL

128 AEHEREER

12m ECL

128 AEHIEREER

Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired

ZHEHEEBE - EE
ERE

Lifetime ECL - credit-
impaired

FHEREEEE-BEE
RfE

Amount is written off

SHECMIH
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise /nd/cated)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
financial assets and contract assets as at 31 March 2025 and
2024, which are subject to ECL assessment:

35.

Financial assets at
amortised cost:

12m ECL or
lifetime ECL
1218 A=
2HEBEERR

Internal

credit rating

P
EETR

REBHERAETENSE
BE:
Trade receivables Lifetime ECL Level 1
B 5 EMGRIA (not credit-impaired) F—MR
2 HITEHIE B 18 Level 2
(WEZERE) EM
Level 3
F=H
Other receivables 12m ECL (not credit-impaired)  Level 3
H b eI k1A 1218 AFE AR E E 18 F=
(WEFERE)
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired)  Level 4
THEREEEE(EERE) FHUR
Refundable rental 12m ECL Level 2
deposits 2B AFEREEEER F_G
AREIMESES
Amounts due from non- 12m ECL Level 2
controlling interests  12{E A FBHAZ EE518 FH

of subsidiaries

B 2 53R AR
0B

SRTEHm

BEERETE R EREE@®

ZE/E R e B 1S (1)
TRFMAM2025F 2024F3 31 A AL
EnemEENANEENEERK(AE
THEBEEEETE)

Gross carrying amount
as at 31 March
M3A31AZERE<E

2025 2024
20244F

HK$'000
TAT

20254
HK$’000
FET

71,614 64,388

17,106 549

20,045 6,089

1,407 3,340

2,590 2,590

521 869

60 11
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. €M T R
Financial risk management objectives and MEREEEBERBEE @
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) =R BB ()

Gross carrying amount
as at 31 March

M3A3MAZERESHE

12m ECL or Internal

lifetime ECL credit rating 2025 2024
128 A= AR
EHEBEERHE EEFR 20254 202445
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FAET
Amount due from a 12m ECL Level 3 750 -
related party 1218 ATEEAE B k18 B=H

& W — 2 AR U7 FOR

Finance lease receivable 12m ECL Level 2 - 2,361
BB E R UWIE 12{8AEREEEBE E—
Pledged bank balances  12m ECL Level 1 5,000 505
EHEBIRITER 1218 A8 B E E 18 F—H
Bank balances 12m ECL Level 1 107,397 98,428
IRITHERR 12{8 ATEREEEBE F—
Other item:
HfhEg :
Contracts assets Lifetime ECL Level 1 194,296 184,196
BHEE (not credit-impaired) F—
HTEEEEEE Level 2 49,284 37,520
(WEEERE) ER
Level 3 20,731 22,284
B=W
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #4&& B i8R R M sE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Allowance for credit losses

During the current year, the movements in allowance for
credit losses that has been recognised for trade receivables
and contract assets were as follows:

35.

Vo= e = Y NI ey )
(FRFA B a3V I A/BICLN )

SRTEHm
BEEMEEEERBE@®

ZE/E R e B 1S (4)

1= EE R E

RAFE  SEZFERFBERENEERE
RNEEBERBEZFHMT

Trade
receivables
BEZEW
MIE

Not credit-
impaired

Contract
assets

EREE
Not credit-
impaired
(lifetime
ECL)
FEERE
(2HA7RH
FEER)
HK$'000
T

(lifetime
ECL)
FEERE
(Z=HAFEHA
FEER)
HK$'000
FA&T

#Et
HK$'000
THAT

At 1 April 2023 M2023F4A18 631 1,695 2,326
Credit losses recognised, net of reversal (& EEHER « kD (197) 256 59
At 31 March 2024 7202453 H31H 434 1,951 2,385
Credit losses recognised EHRREERSE 785 49 834
At 31 March 2025 720253 A31H 1,219 2,000 3,219

The Group has concentration of credit risk because 14% of
trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 March 2025
(2024: 36%) were due from the Group's top five customers.
The Group's top five customers are sizeable and reputable
companies. The management of the Group closely monitors
the subsequent settlement of the customers. In this regard,
the management of the Group considers the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

202543 A31HE ZERFBEREN
EER14%(2024%F : 36%) KRB AEEH
AARF AEBAETEERR - A&
ENAAREF AR AEERGTHAR
AEEERERYEREFPNEELERS
e MMM E  ARBEEEERAELNEER
NEEEBRE KERE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

/‘A_Eé 7N/
(PFA B LAY * I IA/ETTYl

FH === )

N

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. @M T B

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and the flexibility through the use of
borrowings, as appropriate.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities according to the terms of the
relevant contracts/agreements. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are

PSR EEE B ERBUER @)

B EZ/EE
AERER B RREBERBR(NER)E
BB EEE I MER T -

TREABRBAABE L, RN ETIEH
AEESRAGBONBAOIIHA - %K
DR MBERNARRREREREENAN
SEMREHEERIMNNZERSRRER - A
BME  TwiRiTRETEEEMNNARE
% BERERERFFORTERCE
REZFPEHER - HtITESRAERNZ
HMAMREHEERARETE - ARERE
MERAZRERE °

based on the agreed repayment dates. The tables include both
interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted ~ On demand Total
average orwithin  Sixmonths ~ More than undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  sixmonths  to one year one year cash flows amount

i BERZ ~EA AERRS
PRI ~ERAR E-F —FhE REAE RE{E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TAL AT AT TAT TR

Asat31March2025  R2025%3A31H
Trade and retention BHENFERIE

payables IRES N/ARER 51,529 3,539 15,148 70,216 70,216
Amountduetoanon-  JEN—KMBAA

controlling interestof a~ FERIRIEZ A

subsidiary N/ATER 4 - - 4 4
Bank loans - variable rate  $R1TEF %5 2.98 26,635 - - 26,635 26,635
78,168 3,539 15,148 96,855 96,855

Lease liabilities HEaE 3.59 1,402 1,095 1,686 4,183 4,047

As at 31 March 2024 R2024%3831R

Trade and retention B S EHERE
payables HRES N/ATNE 30,113 5,894 8,596 44,603 44,603
Amountduetoanon-  FER—RMERE
controlling interestof a~ FERIRIEZ B
subsidiary NATER 940 - - 940 940
Bank loans - variable rate  $#17EZ -8 3.03 23,59 - 23,594 23,594
54,647 5,894 8,596 69,137 69,137
Lease liabilities MERRE 333 3,964 3,563 7414 14,941 12,440
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

As disclosed in note 24, the Group's bank loans under the
banking facilities of the Group, might be immediately due
and repayable on demand by the relevant bank without prior
notice to the Group.

Taking into account the Group's financial position, the
management of the Group does not believe that it is probable
that the bank will exercise its discretionary right to demand
immediate repayment. The management of the Group
believes that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the relevant
bank facilities letters, details of which are set out in the tables
below:

Less than
one year

1-2 years

IR-F 1226
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AT

As at 31 March 2025 R2025%3A31H

Vo= e = Y NI ey )
(FRFA B a3V I A/BICLN )

35. €t T B
BIEEMRETE R EREE@®

B ELEE &)

WK FE24 AT IR - ANEBRITRE THR
TER AJRESRAKELEBAAEERN
1B T AR R TT ESKBN RS B HA(EE -

ERIAEENMBAR - AEEEIRE
RABIRIT AR RETT(E EL BV 151 B Sk BB
B - AEEEEERE  ZFRITER
R ARAERR IR 1T BY & K 1 P Bl AVt BB 5K
BHMEE - FHFEN TR

Total

Over undiscounted

5 years cash flows
ABREE
REAE
HK$'000
TET

Carrying
2-5 years amount
REE
HK$'000
TR

2855
HK$'000

REHNLE
HKS$'000
THT

Bank loans - variable rate  $R{TEZ %8 7,009 1,972 5915 15,281 30,177 26,635
As at 31 March 2024 202453318
Bank loans - variable rate  H/7EH -8 2,612 2,050 6,149 17,940 28,751 23,594

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

HFENENEFHBHRINRERREGETE
st FIR - CHSMTESRRETET
ANERNEHRES -

BREEEZERERAT 20255F8HK
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. @M T B

154

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
The following table gives information about how the fair
value of the financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the level of
the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

For valuation technique using discounted cash flows, the
discount rate used take into consideration the credit risk of
the relevant counterparties of the contracts or the Group, as
appropriate.

Fair value as at
A¥E

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

31 March 2024
20243 A31H

Financial assets

TEMEE

Assets —
HK$5,000,000
BE—
5,000,000/ 7T

Assets —
HK$5,540,000
BE-
5,540,0005& 7T

Project loan
BEEX

Assets — -
HK$5,957,000
BE-
5,957,000& T

Listed equity
securities

F R ANE

There is no transfer amongst level 1, 2 and 3 for both years.

Accel Group Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2025

Fair value
hierarchy

DHERR

Level 3
B=4

B ERETE B ERBER @)

BEEMEEL L\ FETEZXEE
EHEEZ L TFE
AEBBRAFEFABELRAFERA
Hib 2 EWE NS REER S |E HRIA
RNEFE - TREHRZFEREENAD
FEEEDALERHERMRAERN
BABR) A MBIEAHE EZBARE
WA BRIEEME A FESEIEEAR
FEEFR(F-REZL=R)ZIER -

HERMAMBBRRERE  ERZARE
ZEANIAKRERBERS T ZEER
B - O o

Valuation(s) technique and
key input(s)
RERN R EEE A SE

Valuation techniques: Discounted cash
flow

fHERM - BRATRE

Key inputs: Contracted interest rates,
estimated profit margin and discount
rate.

TRHEABE - HRE - EEHHE
KNBRER K o

The higher the estimated profit margin,
the higher the fair value of project
loan. The higher the discount rate, the
lower the fair value of project loan.
EEAERES - BEERNAFE
B e BIRERYE  HAEERNAT
BB -

Quoted market bid prices in an active
market

RERMSAERTISEAE

MER - F—  FEZRRBE=FZ2HEH
B o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. €M T Em)
Financial risk management objectives and MERREEEERBEK®
policies (continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that BEEMEEL L FETEZERER
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis THEEZLNFEE)
(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements: FoRAFEFTECEER
Financial
assets
at FVTPL
BRATE
FFABRZEZ
CWMEE
HK$'000
FHETT
At 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 M2023F4 718 K2024F3A31H 5,000
Addition NE -
Unrealised gains, recognised in: RUATHER 2 R BRI
— profit or loss —E= 540
At 31 March 2025 7202553 H31H 5,540
Fair value measurement of financial instruments THEEMEEL L FATEZZH
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring TARFHETE
basis
The management of the Group considers that the carrying AEBEERERL  REEVBREAR
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded HIERAAENeREERSRAENER
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements HEEEQERS -

approximate their fair values.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Ty S
L '<’ \,/g//;“;“/j\,’

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENT 36. EAEIE

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Capital expenditure in respect of the ~ BEAWKEDZE - BE KRB 22T

acquisition of property, plant and BRWGRE VB RETREE 2 EXR

equipment contracted for but not FisZ

provided in the consolidated financial

statements - 353

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. XRAMBRENFHE

COMPANY
The Company has direct and indirect shareholdings of the RATMETSIMBARBREEE RHEER
following subsidiaries: T

Equity interest

attributable to
the Group
rEEEGRE
Issued and
Name of Place of Place of fully paid
subsidiaries incorporation operations share capital 2025 Principal activities
WE ERTR
ARER A 5 KEwH BREBREX 20255 TEEH
Directly held:
BEERE:
Ascend Group BVI Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited
Ascend Group EERLES BB 2B 100% 100% RAEK
Holdings Limited
Indirectly held:
BEEE
Chit Tat Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of E&M
(2024: engineering services
HK$5,000,000)
fE N Bk 10,000,0007 7T 100% 100% RUKETRERS
(2024%
5,000,000/ 7T)
Accel Innovations Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales and production
Limited of disinfection spray
equipment and
accessories
BREMERAT B &R 10,0007 100% 100% HBEZREREHH
HEREE
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37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

Name of
subsidiaries
it

AR EH

Accel Development
Limited

R ERRE
BRAT

Accel Green Building
Limited
ElEse2s[ YN

Assure Fintech
Limited

BEERE
BRAH

Accel Education
& Immigration
Center Limited
RRBREBRAL
BRAH

Accel New Energy
Limited
RERERERAR

Accel Construction
Limited
BRREBRAT

Best Investment
Development
Limited

EEREERER

N

Gain Upward Limited
BAREARRA

Place of
incorporation

LA A 3t B

Hong Kong

BE

Hong Kong
BE
Hong Kong

BE
Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong
BE
Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong

BE

Hong Kong
BE

Place of
operations

e

Hong Kong

BE

Hong Kong
BE
Hong Kong

BE
Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong
BE
Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong

BE

Hong Kong
BE

=
e

B ¥ SRR EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2N =]

PRF B LAY HABTTY N )

37. XD TMEB QTS @

Issued and
fully paid
share capital
BETR
BRBRE

HK$1,000,000

1,000,0007% 7T

HK$10,000
10,0007 7T
HK$10,000

10,000/ 7T

HK$10,000

10,0007% 7T

HK$10,000
10,000/ 7T
HK$1,000,000
1,000,000/ 7T

HK$10,000

10,0007 7T

HKS$ 1
1757

Equity interest
attributable to
the Group
KB R

2025 2024

20254 20244

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

70% 70%
70% 70%
70% 70%
70% 70%
52% 52%
52% 52%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%

BREEEZERERAF

Principal activities

Inactive

Provision of education
consultancy service

Inactive
TmeE
Inactive

TEER

Properties holding

BENE

Investment holding
REER
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

) oAt
S sEx2

A VBT

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

AT

Zil==)

N

37. AR TMEB A TNEFSE @

COMPANY (continued)
Equity interest
attributable to
the Group
rEEEGRE
Issued and
Name of Place of Place of fully paid
subsidiaries incorporation operations share capital 2025 Principal activities
WE ERTR
AR A 3 KEwH BREBREX 20255 TEXEH
Accel International Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Inactive
Investment
Limited
RRERREER B &R 10,000 7T 100% 100% EEEZE
NG
Right Team Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$22,222 - 55%  Recycling business
Enterprise
Limited*
EBLEBERAR  BE BE 22,222%7 - 55% B
Accel Vast Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100,000 51% N/A Construction of
Construction buildings
Limited
EHREERLRR AR BE 100,000/%7C 51% TER BFRE
* The subsidiary was disposed during the year. * ZHBARIERFERLE -

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during RAFE  WENBARDBITERER

the year. B o
38. PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT UNDER 38. UERERENREFS

EQUITY METHOD

Details of the Group’s investment under equity method at 31
March 2025 and 2024 are set up as below:

ANEE AR A ZENRER2025F K&
202443 A3 1B ¢

Name of
associate

BELNTER

Place of
incorporation

A AR 3L it B

Place of
operation

gk

Issued and
fully paid

share capital

EBTR
BRRA

Equity interest
attributable to
the Group

FREEERE

2025

20255

Principal activity

TERRE

NP Engineering Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$4,000 40% N/A Construction of
Company Limited buildings
SRIREBRR BB Bk HRBA 40% Tam BTRE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  39. XX R EMRR KK #EE
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Statement of Financial Position of the RQ BB BAR R TR
Company
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—TEMHE R BMRE 77,266 77,266
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE UGB B A B FE 172,256 164,372
Financial asset at FVTOCI BAFEFAEMERERKEZ
TREE 5,957 -
255,479 241,638
Current assets REEE
Amount due from a subsidiary JE W — FRI Bt B A B 5RIE 27,866 19,309
Other receivables and prepayments H b fEUGRIA R TE /IR 524 1,338
Cash and cash equivalents BEMIEEEEY 3,412 1,212
31,802 21,859
Current liabilities Reas
Other payables HAb R FRIA 443 -
Tax payable e TA 3,187 2,230
3,630 2,230
Net current assets REEEFHE 28,172 19,629
Net assets EEZE 283,651 261,267
Capital and reserves BARR#E
Share capital (&N 8,108 8,108
Reserves (=] 275,543 253,159
Total equity BrER 283,651 261,267

BREEEZERERAF

20255 F 5
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39. KA R ERRREEE @

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Statement of Financial Position of the A B I FAR R T @)
Company (continued)

Note: Ff3E

The movement on reserves of the Company are as follows: RRBEHEEBHEIN DT -

Investment

Share Treasury  Share award revaluation Retained

premium shares reserve reserve profits Total

Kt iafE
HK$'000

EEKH
HK$'000

Rt
HK$'000

RES(HE RE A 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT

e —
27T

H
787t

At 1 April 2023 202354718 195,606 - - - 26,000 221,606
Profit and total comprehensive R Kk 2 EURE

income for the year g - - - - 47,191 41,797
Recognition of equity-settled  BERINEREE R

share-based payment BEMHMNT - - 2,264 - - 2,264
Issuance of shares in connection 520235 k(5 2Byt 2|

with the 2023 Share Award BITR D

Scheme - (108) - - - (108)
Shares vested under the 2023 131520235 117 2Bt

Share Award Scheme FEEBARK - 1 (1,094) - 1,083 -
Dividends recognised as BRRARDRERS

distribution (note 11) (PFE11) - - - - (18,400) (18,400)
At 31 March 2024 R2024%53A31H 195,606 97) 1,170 - 56,480 253,159
Profit for the year FRRF - - - - 40,016 40,016
Loss on fair value changes of ~ RATEFAAMEE

financial asset at FVTOC WiEmz eMEERT

2IEE - - - (4,140 - (4,140)

Total comprehensive expense FR2ARTAE

for the year - - - (4,140) 40,016 35,876
Recognition of equity-settled ERUEREE RN

share-based payment BEBONT - - 1,914 - - 1,914
Shares vested under the 2023 1R 1520235 1) 25t

Share Award Scheme HEEBMRG - " (1,037) - 1,026 -
Dividends recognised as REDRNRE

distribution (note 11) GED) - - - - (15,406) (15,406)
At 31 March 2025 R202543A31H 195,606 (86) 2,047 (4,140) 82,116 275,543
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